
      
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

financial report for
year ended 30 June 2011

NEXUS ENERGY LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(ABN 64 058 818 278) 

30 JUNE 



DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011 
 

  Nexus Energy Limited and Subsidiaries  /  1 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
  

CONTENTS PAGE 

Directors’ Report  2 

Auditors Independence Declaration  14 

Corporate Governance Statement  15 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income  20 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position  21 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity  22 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows  23 

Notes to the Financial Statements  24 

Directors’ Declaration  59 

Independent Audit Report  60 

ASX Additional Information  62 

Glossary of Terms  64 



DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011 
 

  Nexus Energy Limited and Subsidiaries  /  2 
 

The Directors present their report of Nexus Energy Limited (“Company”) and subsidiaries (“Group”) for the financial year ended 30 June 2011 and the 
independent audit report thereon. 
 
Board of Directors 
The Board of Directors of the Company (“Board”) have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise 
stated: 
 
Michael Fowler Qualifications 
Non-Executive 
Chairman 

B.Bus (Acc), Finsia (Fellow) 

  
 Experience and expertise 
 Michael Fowler was a founding Director of Nexus and has been a Board member since the Company listed on the ASX in 

September 2000. Mr Fowler has over 20 years experience in the financial services sector. He began his career working for 
chartered accounting firms in Melbourne before leaving to join a private family investment group in the mid 1990s, where he 
furthered his career by joining their Board. Mr Fowler left that group to start the Treasury Group of Companies, a funds 
management company, with the Victor Smorgon Group in 1999. That business grew to have some $1.2 billion of funds 
under management and was taken over by an ASX 200 financial services company in early 2005. Mr Fowler established the 
Maximum Capital Group of Companies which specialises in property finance and related investment products and services. 
Mr Fowler, formerly a Non-Executive Director, was appointed Chairman on 7 August 2007, Executive Chairman on 28 May 
2009 and Non-Executive Chairman on 2 July 2011. 
 

 Directorships held in other listed entities 
 Michael Fowler has not been a Director of any other Australian listed entities in the past three years. 
  
 Special responsibilities 
 Non-Executive Chairman 

Member of Nomination Committee 
Member of Remuneration and Performance Committee 

  
 Interests in Shares and Options 
 4,874,122 Ordinary Shares 
  
Richard Cottee Qualifications 
Managing Director B. Arts, Bachelor of Laws (Hons) 
  
 Experience and expertise 
 Richard Cottee commenced on 3 May 2010 as Chief Executive Officer and was appointed Managing Director on 22 July 

2010. Mr Cottee’s previous role was at Queensland Gas Company (“QGC”) where he held the position of Managing Director 
from 2002 until 2008 when the company was taken over in a friendly acquisition by the BG Group. Over this period QGC 
grew from a market capitalisation of around $20 million to an ASX100 company with a market capitalisation of $5.7 billion. 
Prior to his role at QGC, Mr Cottee worked in the utility sector as Vice President and Managing Director of NRG Energy Ltd 
in London, and Chief Executive of CS Energy Ltd in Brisbane. Mr Cottee is a lawyer by background and commenced his 
career with Allens Arthur Robinson before holding commercial positions with Itochu and Santos. He also spent six years with 
Freehills, Allens & Mallesons covering the resource sector and six years as an Executive Director of Cyprus Australia Coal. 

  
 Directorships held in other listed entities 
 Mr Cottee’s was Managing Director of Queensland Gas Company (“QGC”) from 2002 until 2008 when the company was 

taken over in a friendly acquisition by the BG Group. With the exception of QGC, Mr Cottee has not been a Director of any 
other Australian listed entities in the past three years. 

  
 Special responsibilities 
 Managing Director 

Member of Nomination Committee 
  
 Interests in Shares and Options 
 2,250,000 options over Ordinary Shares 
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Michael Arnett Qualifications 
Non-Executive 
Director 

B.Comm (Acc & Fin), Bachelor of Laws 

 Experience and expertise 
 Michael Arnett was appointed to the Board of Nexus on 28 May 2009. Mr Arnett has more than 20 years experience in 

capital raising, corporate, commercial, banking and finance, mergers and acquisitions and securities. He is a consultant to 
and former partner of international law firm Deacons predominantly consulting in the mining, resources and oil and gas 
areas. 

  
 Directorships held in other listed entities 
 Current directorships held by Mr Arnett are Global Resources Corporation Limited (formally Cloncurry Metals Limited), New 

Guinea Energy Limited and NRW Holdings Limited. With the exception of these entities, Mr Arnett has not been a Director of 
any other Australian listed entities in the past three years. 

  
 Special responsibilities 
 Deputy Chairman 

Chair of Audit Committee 
Member of Nomination Committee 

  
 Interests in Shares and Options 
 411,668 Ordinary Shares 
  
  
Steven Lowden Qualifications 
Non-Executive 
Director 

B.Sc, Master of Petroleum Engineering 

 Experience and expertise 
 Steven Lowden was appointed to the Board of Nexus on 18 November 2009. Mr Lowden has over 25 years experience in 

the international oil and gas industry across exploration, development, production and gas liquefaction. Throughout his 
career in the oil industry Mr Lowden has worked in the North Sea, Middle East, South East Asia and North Africa. Mr 
Lowden has previously held positions with Premier Oil plc, including chief petroleum engineer, general manager for 
development and production and an Executive Director of the Board, and, more recently at Marathon Oil Company as 
president of Marathon International, head of corporate business development and an officer of the company. Since late 2005 
Mr Lowden has been involved with two private energy businesses focusing on assets in Africa. 

  
 Directorships held in other listed entities 
 Steven Lowden has not been a Director of any other Australian listed entities in the past three years. 
  
 Special responsibilities 
 Member of Audit Committee 

Member of Nomination Committee 
  
 Interests in Shares and Options 
 580,450 Ordinary Shares 
  
  
Ian Boserio Qualifications 
Non-Executive 
Director 

B.Sc Hons (Geophysics), B.Sc (Geology) 

 Experience and expertise 
 Ian Boserio was appointed to the Board of Nexus on 18 November 2009. Mr Boserio has more than 25 years international 

experience in the oil and gas business focusing predominantly on exploration. He has spent the majority of his career with 
Shell including roles in Australia, North Sea, Middle East, India and Indonesia, and five years with Woodside as the Australia 
exploration manager. Mr Boserio's last position at Shell was as the Australian new business manager, prior to that he led the 
Shell Australia and NZ exploration team growing its gas portfolio for LNG development. 

  
 Directorships held in other listed entities 
 Current directorship held by Mr Boserio is Otto Energy Limited since September 2010. With the exception of Otto Energy 

Limited, Mr Boserio has not been a Director of any other Australian listed entities in the past three years. 
  
 Special responsibilities 
 Chair of Remuneration and Performance Committee 

Member of Nomination Committee 
  
 Interests in Shares and Options 
 455,000 Ordinary Shares 
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Symon Drake-
Brockman 
Non-Executive 

Qualifications 
B.Com 

Director Experience and expertise 
 Symon Drake-Brockman was appointed to the Board of Nexus on 18 November 2009. Mr Drake-Brockman has over 20 years 

of finance experience covering both the debt and equity markets. He was formerly chief executive officer of RBS Global 
Banking and Markets in the Americas and chief executive officer of RBS Greenwich Capital, Global head of RBS' Debt 
Markets division and Board member of RBS Global Banking and Markets. Mr Drake-Brockman previously held senior 
positions with ING Barings and JP Morgan in London, New York, Tokyo and Hong Kong. 

  
 Directorships held in other listed entities 
 Mr Drake-Brockman has not been a Director of any other Australian listed entities in the past three years. 
  
 Special responsibilities 
 Member of the Audit Committee 
 Member of the Nomination Committee 
  
 Interests in Shares and Options 
 52,500,169 Ordinary Shares 
  
  
John Hartwell Qualifications 
Non-Executive 
Director 

M.Com (Economics) 

 Experience and expertise 
 John Hartwell was appointed to the Board of Nexus on 31 March 2011. Mr Hartwell has over 18 years experience working in 

the Australian government where he held a wide range of positions dealing with trade, commodity and energy and 
resources issues. From 2002 to 2010 he was head of the resources division, in the Department of Resources, Energy and 
Tourism, Canberra. The resources division provides advice to the Australian government on policy issues, legislative 
changes and administrative matters related to the petroleum industry, upstream and downstream and the coal and minerals 
industries. 

  
 Directorships held in other listed entities 
 Mr Hartwell has not been a Director of any other Australian listed entities in the past three years. 
  
 Special responsibilities 
 Chair of Nomination Committee 
 Member of Remuneration and Performance Committee 
  
 Interests in Shares and Options 
 31,200 Ordinary Shares 
 
Company Secretary 
Susan Robutti was appointed Company Secretary on 13 October 2006. Ms Robutti is a Chartered Accountant with extensive financial experience, 
having previously held the role of Financial Controller and Company Secretary with the Treasury Group of Companies.  
 
Directors’ Meetings 
The number of Directors’ meetings (including meetings of committees of Directors) and number of meetings attended by each of the Directors of the 
Company during the financial year were: 
 

 
On 2 July 2011, the membership of the Board committees was reviewed with a change to the membership of the Remuneration and Performance 
Committee.  The Director’s report details the representation of the Board committees at the date of signing the report. 
 
Principal Activities 
The principal activities of the Company during the course of the financial year were oil and gas exploration, development and production. There were no 
significant changes in the nature of those principle activities during the financial year. 

Director Board Audit Committee Remuneration & 
Performance Committee Nomination Committee 

 
Number 

eligible to 
attend 

Number 
attended 

Number 
eligible to 

attend 

Number 
attended 

Number 
eligible to 

attend 

Number 
attended 

Number 
eligible to 

attend 

Number 
attended 

Michael Fowler 9 9 - - - - 1 1 

Richard Cottee 9 9 - - - - 1 1 

Michael Arnett 9 9 2 2 2 2 1 1 

Steven Lowden 9 9 2 2 - - 1 1 

Ian Boserio 9 9 - - 2 2 1 1 

Symon Drake-Brockman 9 9 2 2 2 2 1 1 

John Hartwell 2 2 - - - - - -  
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Significant Changes in State of Affairs 
In the opinion of the Directors, there were no significant changes in the nature of the activities or state of affairs of the Group during the financial year. 
 
Future Developments, Prospects and Business Strategies 
Likely developments, future prospects and business strategies for the operations of the Group and the expected results of those operations have not 
been included in this report as the Directors believe, on reasonable grounds, that the inclusion of such information would be likely to result in 
unreasonable prejudice to the Group. 
 
Dividends 
The Directors of the Company do not recommend the paying of a dividend for the financial year. Since the end of the previous financial year, no 
dividend has been paid or declared. 
 
Events Subsequent to Balance Date 
Since the end of the financial year, the significant events referred to in Note 33 to the Financial Report have occurred. Except for the matters referred to 
in Note 33, there has not been any matter or circumstance that has arisen since the end of the financial year, that has significantly affected, or may 
significantly affect, the operations of the Group, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Group, in financial periods subsequent to 30 
June 2011. 
 
Proceedings on Behalf of Company  
No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a 
party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or any part of those proceedings. The Company was not a party to any 
such proceedings during the financial year. 
 
Environmental Regulation 
The Group is subject to significant environmental regulations in respect of exploration, development and production activities. The Group is committed to 
undertaking all of its exploration, development and production activities in an environmentally responsible manner. The Board believes that the 
Company has adequate systems in place for the management of its environmental requirements and is not aware of any significant breach of those 
environmental requirements as they apply to the Company and the Group. 
 
Indemnification of Directors and Officers 
During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of the contract insuring the Directors of the Company (as named above), the 
Company Secretary and all Executive Officers of the Company and of any related body corporate against a liability incurred by a Director, Secretary or 
Executive Officer. The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium. 
 
The Company has not, during or since the end of the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an auditor of the Company or of any related 
body corporate against a liability incurred as such by an auditor. 
 
Review of Operations 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 

The consolidated loss after income tax of the Group for the financial year ended 30 June 2011 was $39,202,356 (2010: profit $1,031,157). Included in 
the result is the gain on extinguishment of financial liabilities of $14,609,199. This was offset by the impairment in the production asset of $81,772,347. 
 
Statement of Financial Position 
The net assets of the Group have increased by $104,316,175 from 30 June 2010 to $632,898,948 as at 30 June 2011. The increase in net assets is 
mainly attributable to the increase in cash and cash equivalents, increase in the deferred tax asset as a result of augmentation of PRRT credits and 
increased capitalised cost for the Crux development project. These increases were offset by an $81,772,347 impairment in the production asset and 
increased sundry and trade creditors. 
 
Corporate Activities` 
In August 2010, Nexus completed a restructure of its subordinated notes.  Under the transaction new Unsecured Senior Subordinated Notes, (Tranche 
A due in 2017 and Tranche B due in 2013) were exchanged for 86.27% of its $110 million Unsecured Senior Subordinated Notes due 2013, and issued 
30,195,445 Nexus ordinary shares. The issuance of the new notes removed the financial impediment to the early development of Crux by postponing 
the maturity until after the date on which Crux needed to be developed under its existing production licence (being 2014).  The structure of the new 
notes maximise the Group’s near-term cash as well as provide interest rate relief until 2013 to enable the Company to focus on its growth strategy. 
 
In November 2010, Nexus completed a share placement of 32 million fully paid ordinary shares at an issue price of $0.44 per share to sophisticated 
investors identified as existing shareholders. Total gross proceeds from the placement was $14 million. In May 2011, the Company completed a fully 
underwritten 3 for 10 accelerated renounceable entitlement offer at an issue price of $0.40 per new share which raised gross proceeds of approximately 
$122 million. It was positively supported by institutional shareholders raising approximately $57 million and the retail entitlement offer raised 
approximately $65 million. Proceeds from the raising have been used to restructure the existing Longtom debt facility, will be used to fund the Crux 
liquids project through to Final Investment Decision (FID) (targeted end of calendar year 2011) and pursue a targeted drilling strategy at Longtom South. 
 
In June 2011, Nexus completed the restructure of the Longtom debt facility and upon completion $70 million of the facility was repaid  from the proceeds 
of the accelerated renounceable entitlement offer. The restructure allows for increased near term cash flows to be used to progress corporate 
objectives. Principle repayments are back-end weighted and scheduled to commence in September 2011 with final repayment in June 2016. Refer to 
Note 19 for further details. 
 
Production segment  
Longtom gas project (Nexus 100%) 
VIC/L29 – Gippsland Basin, Victoria 
Production from the Longtom asset recommenced in October 2010 following the installation of the mercury removal facilities. The Company has met all 
nominations to supply gas in accordance with the Longtom Gas Sales Agreement. The Company’s production of gas and condensate for the 2011 
financial year totalled 14.73 PJ of gas and 136.38 kbbl of condensate with total gross revenue of $66,607,811. 
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Development segment 
Crux asset (Nexus 85%) 
AC/L9 – Browse Basin, Western Australia  
Activities focussed on the objective of achieving FID on the Crux liquids project by the end of calendar year 2011. On 6 May 2011, the Wood Group was 
engaged to provide project management services through to FID. In addition, McDermott Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd (“McDermott”) and Fluor Australia Pty Ltd 
were both engaged to perform an engineering and strategic review of the project in May 2011. Following the completion of this review, an agreement 
was executed with McDermott on 26 July 2011 to provide project development engineering services for the Crux liquids project. The Company is 
continuing to work towards FID on the Crux liquids project. 
 
Exploration segment 
Echuca Shoals gas discovery (Nexus 100%) 
WA-377-P – Browse Basin, Western Australia  
Prospects with attractive unrisked volume potential have been mapped on the existing seismic data base. In particular, further appraisal of the gas 
encountered in Echuca Shoals/Fossetmaker is under evaluation along with the Mashmaker and Cooper prospects in the permit’s north east. Both 
undrilled prospects offer multiple stacked reservoir targets. Structural mapping and trap integrity are viewed as the major geological risks for the 
identified opportunities. To allow for better prospect definition and risk reduction prior to further drilling in the permit, a work variation for Permit Year 6 
has been approved by the Joint Authority which will allow for seismic reprocessing during Year 6 in lieu of a one well commitment. Enhanced seismic 
data quality is seen a critical step in prospect risk reduction. Seismic field tape copying is underway. 
 
VIC/P54 (Nexus 100%) 
Gippsland Basin, Victoria 
Interpretation of the reprocessed seismic data focused on the maturing of the Longtom West exploration prospect continued. This work is being 
integrated with the Longtom South evaluation in the adjoining VIC/L29 Production Licence area and will look to address the value of drilling Longtom 
West back to back with Longtom South. 
 
WA-368-P (Nexus 0%) 
Perth Basin, Western Australia 
The exploration permit for WA-368-P was cancelled by the government Joint Authority on 21 March 2011. Nexus will now proceed to negotiate a “Good 
Standing Agreement” with the government authority. 
 
New ventures  
The Company continued to evaluate a number of oil and gas opportunities during the year. 
 
 

 
 

Location of Nexus assets  
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Remuneration Report 
This report details the nature and amount of remuneration for each Director and the other key management personnel of Nexus Energy Limited. This 
section of the Directors’ Report is prepared in accordance with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
Remuneration Policy 
The remuneration policy of Nexus has been designed to align Director and other key management personnel compensation with shareholder and 
business objectives by providing a fixed remuneration component as well as offering specific short-term and long-term incentives based on key 
performance areas affecting the Group's financial results. The Board believe the remuneration policy to be appropriate and effective in its ability to 
attract and retain the best executives and Directors to run and manage the Group, as well as create goal congruence between Directors, other key 
management personnel and shareholders. 
 
The Board's policy for determining the nature and amount of remuneration for Directors and other key management personnel of the Group is as 
follows: 
 
• The remuneration policy, setting the terms and conditions for the Executive and Non-Executive Directors and other senior executives, was 

developed by the Board after seeking professional advice from an independent external consultant. 
• The executive remuneration structure is based on a number of factors, including length of service, particular experience of the individual 

concerned and overall performance of the Company. It also involves a balance between fixed remuneration, equity-based remuneration (within 
thresholds set by the Board) and termination payments. 

• Reviews of executive packages are performed annually by reference to the Group's performance, executive performance and comparable 
information from industry sectors. 

• All executives are eligible to participate in the Executive Director and Employee Option Plan (set out in Note 29 to the Financial Report). 
 
The Executive Director and other key management personnel receive a superannuation guarantee contribution required by the government, currently at 
9%, and do not receive other retirement benefits. Some individuals, however, have chosen to sacrifice part of their salary to increase payments towards 
superannuation. All remuneration paid to Directors and other key management personnel is valued at the cost to the Company and expensed. Options 
are valued using a binomial option pricing model. 
 
The Board policy is to remunerate Non-Executive Directors at market rates for time, commitment and responsibilities. The remuneration amounts paid to 
Non-Executive Directors is reviewed annually, based on market price, duties and accountability. Independent external advice is sought when required. 
The maximum aggregate amount of fees that can be paid to Non-Executive Directors is subject to approval by shareholders. Fees for Non-Executive 
Directors are not linked to the performance of the Group. However, to align Directors' interests with shareholders interests, the Directors are encouraged 
to hold shares in the Company. The Company’s earnings have not been included in the assessment of the remuneration of Directors or other key 
management personnel. 
 
Employment Details and Retirement Benefits of Directors and Key Management Personnel 
The following table provides employment details of persons who were, during the financial year, Directors and members of key management personnel 
of the Consolidated Group, and to the extent different, the five group executives receiving the highest remuneration. Also illustrated are the proportion of 
remuneration that was performance and non-performance based and the portion of remuneration received in the form of options. 
 
Directors Contract Details 

Michael Fowler 
Non-Executive Chairman 

Michael Fowler resigned as Executive Chairman and Director on 2 June 2011 with effect from 2 July 2011, and was 
appointed as Non-Executive Chairman and Director with effect from that date. A new employment agreement was 
executed in July 2011 which has no minimum term, 4 week notice period required to terminate and entitled to a 
maximum of 1 year’s aggregate salary on termination or resignation. At 30 June 2011, Michael Fowler was entitled to 
retirement and termination benefits under his previous employment contract that were paid on 2 July 2011. 

Richard Cottee 
Managing Director 
 

3 year term commencing on 3 May 2010. 3 months notice period required to terminate and entitled to 6 months fixed 
remuneration on redundancy. 

Michael Arnett 
Non-Executive Director 

No minimum term. 4 week notice period required to terminate and entitled to 1 year aggregate salary on termination 
or resignation subject to various conditions that includes having completed 2 years continuous service. 

Steven Lowden 
Non-Executive Director 

No minimum term. No notice period required to terminate and is entitled to 1 year aggregate salary on termination or 
resignation subject to various conditions that includes having completed 2 years continuous service. 

Ian Boserio 
Non-Executive Director 

No minimum term. No notice period required to terminate and is entitled to 1 year aggregate salary on termination or 
resignation subject to various conditions that includes having completed 2 years continuous service. 

Symon Drake-Brockman 
Non-Executive Director 

No minimum term. No notice period required to terminate and is entitled to 1 year aggregate salary on termination or 
resignation subject to various conditions that includes having completed 2 years continuous service. 

John Hartwell 
Non-Executive Director 

No minimum term. No notice period required to terminate and is entitled to 1 year aggregate salary on termination or 
resignation subject to various conditions that includes having completed 2 years continuous service.  

 
The Board acknowledges that the entitlement of each of the Non-Executive Directors to receive a termination payment in certain circumstances is 
contrary to Recommendation 8.2 of the ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations. However, the Board considers that these 
arrangements are reasonable in the circumstances, particularly given the significant time commitments required by each of the Non-Executive Directors 
during the Company's continuing phase of development. The Board also believes that such payments are appropriate given the necessity to attract the 
highest calibre of professionals to the Company. 
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Employment Details of Directors and Key Management Personnel (Continued) 

Executive Team Position Contract Details 

Keith Edwards GM Business 
Development and 
Corporate Planning 

Keith Edwards ceased employment on 31 May 2011. 

John Ah-Cann Longtom Asset Manager 
& Drilling Manager 

No fixed term. 4 week notice period required to terminate and entitled to 3 months total fixed 
remuneration for the first year plus one month of total fixed remuneration for each additional 
year of service upon redundancy. 

Mike Maloney Chief Operating Officer No fixed term. 3 months notice period required to terminate and entitled to 6 months total 
fixed remuneration upon redundancy. 

Keith Jackson Exploration Manager No fixed term. 4 week notice period required to terminate and entitled to 3 months total fixed 
remuneration upon redundancy. 

Stuart Jones GM Finance & Investor 
Relations 

4 year contract expiring 7 August 2013. 3 months notice period required to terminate and 
entitled to 3 months total fixed remuneration upon redundancy. 

 
 

 Proportions of elements of remuneration  
related to performance 

Proportions of elements of remuneration 
not related to performance 

Directors 
Non Salary cash 

incentives 
% 

Shares 
% 

Options 
% 

Fixed Salary /Fees 
% 

Total 
% 

Michael Fowler - - - 100 100 

Richard Cottee 25 - 27 48 100 
Other key management 
personnel      

Keith Edwards - - 7 93 100 

John Ah-Cann 7 - 12 81 100 

Mike Maloney 11 - 11 78 100 

Keith Jackson(1) 9 - - 91 100 

Stuart Jones 8 - 8 84 100 

(1)  Keith Jackson became a member of the key management personnel effective 13 September 2010. 
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Details of Remuneration for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2011 
Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the other key management personnel of Nexus Energy Limited and the Group are set out in the 
following tables: 
 

  Short-term benefits Post employment benefits 
Share-
based 

payments 
 

Directors Year 
Salary, fees 

& 
commissions 

$ 

Cash 
bonus 

$ 
Other 

$ 

Superannuation 
Contributions 

$ 

 
 

Other 
$ 

 
Increase in 
Long-term 

benefits 
$ 

Fair value of 
share options 
at grant date 

$ 
Total 

$ 

Michael Fowler 2011 900,000 - - 81,000 - 1,035,603 - 2,016,603 

 2010 900,000 - - 81,000 - 1,227,027 - 2,208,027 

Richard Cottee(1) 2011 605,717 350,000 - 54,514 - - 382,500 1,392,731 

 2010 91,744 - - 8,256 - - - 100,000 

Michael Arnett 2011 137,503 - - 12,375 - 21,711 - 171,589 

 2010 115,387 - - 11,399 - 121,384 - 248,170 

Steven Lowden(2) 2011 102,446 - - 9,220 - 81,481 - 193,147 

 2010 68,807 - - 6,193 - 25,132 - 100,132 

Ian Boserio(3) 2011 102,066 - - 9,186 - 70,657 - 181,909 

 2010 68,151 - - 6,134 - 35,560 - 109,845 

Symon  
Drake-Brockman(4) 

2011 102,066 - - 9,186 - 82,743 - 193,995 

 2010 64,269 - - 5,784 - 23,474 - 93,527 

John Hartwell(5) 2011 19,797 - - 1,782 - 16,482 - 38,061 

Ian Tchacos(6) 2010 366,746 150,000 13,375 48,587 1,296,439 - - 1,875,147 

Alastair Haydock(7) 2010 25,000 - - 50,000 347,501 - - 422,501 

Neil Ferguson(8) 2010 45,774 - - 50,000 447,024 - - 542,798 

 2011 1,969,595 350,000 - 177,263 - 1,308,677 382,500 4,188,035 

 2010 1,745,878 150,000 13,375 267,353 2,090,964 1,432,577 - 5,700,147 

Increase in Long Term Benefits 
In accordance with the requirement of the Accounting Standards, an increase in the long-term benefits has been included in the Remuneration Report 
table above. The amount represents the movement in the Non-Executive Directors termination payment entitlements, measured as the present value of 
the estimated future cash outflows with a probability estimate for completion of the service period requirement. An accrual is made for the Group’s 
liability for Director termination and redundancy benefits arising from services rendered by Non-Executive Directors in accordance with their contracts. 
Director’s retirement benefits that are expected to be settled within one year of 30 June 2011 have been measured at the present value of future cash 
flows and include a probability estimate of the Non-Executive Director satisfying the service period requirements. The 30 June 2010 balances have been 
retrospectively adjusted to incorporate the estimated termination entitlements under their contract.  

(1) Richard Cottee was appointed Chief Executive Officer on 3 May 2010. The transactions detailed in the above table for 2010 cover the period 3 
May 2010 to 30 June 2010. 

(2)  Steven Lowden was appointed as a Non-Executive Director on 18 November 2009. The transactions detailed in the above table for 2010 cover 
the period 18 November 2009 to 30 June 2010. 

(3)  Ian Boserio was appointed as a Non-Executive Director on 18 November 2009. The transactions detailed in the above table for 2010 cover the 
period 18 November 2009 to 30 June 2010. 

(4)  Symon Drake-Brockman was appointed as a Non-Executive Director on 18 November 2009. The transactions detailed in the above table for 2010 
cover the period 18 November 2009 to 30 June 2010. 

(5)  John Hartwell was appointed as a Non-Executive Director on 31 March 2011. The transactions detailed in the above table for 2011 cover the 
period 31 March 2011 to 30 June 2011. 

(6)  Ian Tchacos ceased with Nexus effective 21 December 2009. Transactions detailed in the above table for 2010 cover the period 1 July 2009 to  
21 December 2009.  

(7)  Alastair Haydock resigned as a Non-Executive Director effective 31 December 2009. Transactions detailed above for 2010 cover the period 1 July 
2009 to 31 December 2009. 

(8)  Neil Ferguson resigned as a Non-Executive Director on 24 February 2010. Transactions detailed above for 2010 cover the period 1 July 2009 to  
24 February 2010. 
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Details of Remuneration for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2011 (continued) 
 

  Short-term benefits Post employment benefits 
Share-
based 

payments 
 

Other key 
management 
personnel 

Year 
Salary, fees 

& 
commissions 

$ 

Cash 
bonus 

$ 
Other 

$ 

Superannuation 
Contributions 

$ 

 
 

Other 
$ 

 
Increase in 
Long-term 

benefits 
$ 

Fair value of 
share options 
at grant date 

$ 
Total 

$ 

Keith Edwards(1) 2011 437,900 - - 45,833 191,325 - 50,457 725,515 

 2010 484,998 - - 25,000 - 24,432 - 534,430 

John Ah-Cann 2011 605,204 55,500 - 50,000 - 10,158 98,280 819,142 

 2010 589,543 63,000 - 57,394 - 1,481 - 711,418 

Mike Maloney(2) 2011 513,004 76,000 - 45,000 - 697 81,750 716,451 

 2010 268,118 - - 24,131 - 117 - 292,366 

Keith Jackson(3) 2011 239,435 28,440 - 41,714 - 164 - 309,753 

Stuart Jones(4) 2011 504,804 50,000 4,082 15,164 - 763 50,457 625,270 

 2010 409,048 50,000 13,234 14,287 - 163 - 486,732 

Philip Smith(5) 2011 162,177 - - 18,596 89,898 - - 270,671 

 2010 368,676 - - 46,261 - 41,368 - 456,305 

Moss Daemi(6) 2010 215,000 - - 50,000 557,480 - - 822,480 

Dave Nolan(7) 2010 - - - - 499,583 - - 499,583 

 2011 2,462,524 209,940 4,082 216,307 281,223 11,782 280,944 3,466,802 

 2010 2,335,383 113,000 13,234 217,073 1,057,063 67,561 - 3,803,314 

 

Increase in Long Term Benefits 
In accordance with the requirement of the Accounting Standards, an increase in the long-term benefits reflect the increase in long service leave 
entitlements measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made in respect of the key management personnel. 

(1) Keith Edwards commenced with the company on 14 October 2004 and ceased employment effective 31 May 2011. Included in the 2011 
remuneration is the final payment of salary in accordance with his contract. 

(2) Mike Maloney commenced with the company on the 18 December 2009. The transaction in the above table for 2010 cover the period 18 
December 2009 to 30 June 2010. 

(3) Keith Jackson commenced with the company on 13 September 2010. The transactions detailed in the above table for 2011 cover the period 13 
September 2010 to 30 June 2011. 

(4) Stuart Jones commenced with the company on 1 September 2009. The transactions detailed in the above table for 2010 cover the period 1 
September 2009 to 30 June 2010. 

(5) Phillip Smith ceased employment on 2 November 2010. The transactions detailed in the above table for 2011 cover the period 1 July 2010 to  
2 November 2010. Included in the 2011 remuneration is the final payment of salary in accordance with his contract. 

(6) Moss Daemi ceased employment on 31 December 2009. The transactions detailed in the above table for 2010 cover the period 1 July 2009 to 31 
December 2009. Included in the 2010 remuneration is the final payment of salary in accordance with his contract. 

(7) Dave Nolan ceased employment on 1 July 2009. The transactions detailed in the above table for 2010 cover the final pay on 1 July 2009. Included 
in the 2010 remuneration is the final payment of salary in accordance with his contract. 

 
Amounts disclosed for remuneration of Directors and other key management personnel exclude insurance premiums paid by the Company in respect of 
directors' and officers' liability insurance contracts as the contracts do not specify premiums paid in respect of individual directors and officers. 
Information relating to insurance contracts is set out in this Directors’ Report. 
 
 
Cash Bonus and Performance related incentives 
Bonus and performance related incentives were paid at the discretion of the Board of Directors during the 2011 Financial Year. Post the end of the 2011 
Financial Year an employment program has been implemented where employees and the Managing Directors performance will be measured against 
set key performance indicators and other performance measures. During the year Richard Cottee, Mike Maloney, John Ah-Cann, Stuart Jones and 
Keith Jackson were granted bonus payments as part of their remuneration and are disclosed in this report. 
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Shareholdings 
Number of ordinary shares held by Directors and other key management personnel as at 30 June 2011: 
 

Directors 
Balance 
30/6/10 

Received as 
remuneration

Options 
exercised

Shares 
purchased

Shares 
sold Other 

Balance 
30/6/11

Michael Fowler 4,249,122 - - 625,000 - - 4,874,122 

Richard Cottee - - - - - - - 

Michael Arnett 316,667 - - 95,001 - - 411,668 

Steven Lowden 446,500 - - 133,950 - - 580,450 

Ian Boserio 300,000 - - 155,000 - - 455,000 

Symon Drake-Brockman 46,673,094 - - 5,827,075 - - 52,500,169 

John Hartwell(1) 24,000 - - 7,200 - - 31,200 

 52,009,383 - - 6,843,226 - - 58,852,609 

Other key management  
personnel 

Keith Edwards 770,725 - - - - (770,725) - 

John Ah-Cann - - - - - - - 

Mike Maloney 400,000 - - 320,000 - - 720,000 

Keith Jackson(2) - - - - - - - 

Stuart Jones - - - - - - - 

Philip Smith(3) 500,000 - - - (500,000) - - 

 1,670,725 - - 320,000 (500,000) (770,725) 720,000 

(1) John Hartwell was appointed as a Non-executive Director on 31 March 2011. The transactions detailed in the above table cover the period 31 
March 2011 to 30 June 2011. The opening balance of shares held represent shares acquired by John Hartwell prior to his appointment as a 
Director. 

 
(2) Keith Jackson commenced with the company on 13 September 2010. The transactions detailed in the above table cover the period 13 September 

2010 to 30 June 2011. 
 
(3) Phillip Smith ceased employment on 2 November 2010. The transactions detailed in the above table cover the period 1 July 2010 to 2 November 

2010. 

 

Options over Ordinary Shares 
Details of Nexus share option plans are set out in Note 29 to the Financial Report. During the financial year 4,109,400 options (performance rights with 
zero exercise price) (2010: Nil) were issued to Directors, other key management personnel and employees. No options or performance rights were 
exercised by the Directors or other key management personnel during the financial year.  
 
Vesting of the options issued in the 2011 financial year will be subject to a performance test. A proportion (between nil and 100%) of the options (as 
determined by the performance test), will vest at the end of the vesting period expiring on 30 June 2013 (the vesting date) with the Board having the 
discretion to vary the vesting conditions in certain circumstances. The options will be exercisable in the 12 month period commencing on the vesting 
date. 
 
The performance test for the performance rights issued to Managing Director and executives will be measured by the Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”) 
of Nexus ordinary shares relative to the TSR of a comparative group of other oil and gas companies and the ASX Energy Index over the vesting period. 
Vesting of the options issued will be as follows: Top quartile ranking is required for all options to vest while no options would vest if Nexus ranks in the 
third or fourth quartile of TSR rankings at the end of the vesting period, 50% of the options will vest at the 50th percentile with proportionate vesting to the 
75th percentile. 
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Options over Ordinary Shares (Continued) 
 
The movement of share options held by Directors and other key management personnel during the financial year is as follows: 
 

Directors 

 
Balance 
30/6/10 

Granted as 
remuneration 

Options 
exercised in 

2011 

Net change 
Other 

Balance 
30/6/11 

Total 
vested 
30/6/11 

Total 
exercisable 

30/6/11

Total Un-
exercisable 

30/6/11 

Michael Fowler - - - - - - - - 

Richard Cottee - 2,250,000 - - 2,250,000 - - 2,250,000 

Michael Arnett - - - - - - - - 

Steven Lowden - - - - - - - - 

Ian Boserio - - - - - - - - 

Symon Drake-
Brockman - - - - - - - - 

John Hartwell(1) - - - - - - - - 

 - 2,250,000 - - 2,250,000 - - 2,250,000 

Other key management 
Personnel 

Keith Edwards 366,700 152,900 - (519,600) - - - - 

John Ah-Cann 277,200 327,600 - (164,102) 440,698 113,098 113,098 327,600 

Mike Maloney - 272,500 - - 272,500 - - 272,500 

Keith Jackson(2) - - - - - - - - 

Stuart Jones - 152,900 - - 152,900 - - 152,900 

Philip Smith(3) 298,300 - - (298,300) - - - - 

 942,200 905,900 - (982,002) 866,098 113,098 113,098 753,000 

 
(1) John Hartwell was appointed as a Non-executive Director on 31 March 2011. The transactions detailed in the above table cover the period 31 

March 2011 to 30 June 2011. 
 
(2) Keith Jackson commenced with the company on 13 September 2010. The transactions detailed in the above table cover the period 13 September 

2010 to 30 June 2011. 
 
(3) Phillip Smith ceased employment on 2 November 2010. The transactions detailed in the above table cover the period 1 July 2010 to 2 November 

2010. 

  

At 30 June 2011, 4,419,293 options (performance rights with zero exercise price) (2010: 7,052,300 options) were outstanding as part of the Nexus 
Energy Limited Executive Director and Employee Option Plan. The Executive Director and Employee Option Plan was approved on 25 September 2008 
at a General Meeting of shareholders. Details of the Nexus Energy Limited Executive Director and Employee Option Plan are disclosed in Note 29 to the 
Financial Report.  
 
As at 30 June 2011 the unissued ordinary shares of Nexus Energy Limited under option are as follows: 
 
Grant date Expiry and exercise date Exercise price  Number 
9 January 2009 30 June 2012 Zero  532,493 

7 July 2010 30 June 2013 Zero  2,250,000 

4 August 2010 30 June 2013 Zero  860,200 

6 December 2010 30 June 2013 Zero  776,600 

    4,419,293 

     
During the financial year, no ordinary shares of Nexus Energy Limited were issued on the exercise of options granted under the Nexus Energy Limited 
Executive Director and Employee Option Plan and other Plan.  
 
Subsequent to year end a total of 360,754 shares were issued upon satisfaction of vesting conditions relating to options granted on 9 January 2009. 
Refer to Note 33 Subsequent Events.  
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Non-Audit Services 
The Board of Directors, in accordance with advice from the Audit Committee, is satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the year is 
compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The directors are satisfied that the services 
disclosed below did not compromise the external auditor’s independence for the following reasons: 
 

• All non-audit services are reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee prior to commencement to ensure they do not adversely affect the 
integrity and objectivity of the auditor, and 

• The nature of the services provided do not compromise the general principles relating to auditor independence in accordance with APES 110: 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants set by the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board. 

 
The following fees were paid or payable to Moore Stephens for non-audit services provided during the year ended 30 June 2011: 

 $ 

• Review of prospectus (Accelerated Renounceable Rights 16,500 
• Taxation services 9,800 

 26,300 
 
Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration for the financial year ended 30 June 2011 has been received as required under Section 307C of the 
Corporations Act 2001 and is included on page 14. 
 
 
This Directors’ Report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors made pursuant to Section 298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
On behalf of the Directors: 
 
 
 

     
 
Michael Fowler   Richard Cottee 
Non-Executive Chairman  Managing Director 
 
Dated at Melbourne this 31st day of August 2011 



Moore Stephens ABN 39 533 589 331. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. An independent member of Moore Stephens International Limited – 
members in principal cities throughout the world. The Melbourne Moore Stephens firm is not a partner or agent of any other Moore Stephens firm. And is a separate partnership in Victoria. 
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Level 10, 530 Collins Street 

Melbourne VIC 3000 
 

T  +61 (0)3 8635 1800 
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 to 

the directors of Nexus Energy Limited  

 

 
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2011 there has 
been: 
 

(i) No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 
2001 in relation to the audit, and 
 

(ii) No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
MOORE STEPHENS 
Chartered Accountants 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Kevin W Neville  
Partner 
Melbourne, 31 August 2011 
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The Board and Management Team of Nexus Energy Limited (“the Company”) are committed to achieving and demonstrating the highest standard of 
corporate governance across the Company. The Board has established corporate governance policies and charters designed to achieve the highest 
standard of corporate governance. The Company policies and charters are available from the corporate governance section of the company website at 
www.nexusenergy.com.au. 
 
A description of the Company’s main corporate governance practices is set out below. All these practices, unless otherwise stated were in place the 
entire year. They comply with the ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (including 2010 amendments) unless otherwise stated. 
 
Principle 1: Lay solid foundations for management and oversight 
 
Role and Responsibilities of the Board 
The Board acts in accordance with the Company Constitution and Board Charter which describes the composition, functions and responsibilities of the 
Board and distinguishes such functions and responsibilities from those which have been delegated to management.  
 
The Board is responsible for the overall corporate governance of the Company and its strategic direction, the identification and monitoring of corporate 
goals and policies, overseeing the Company’s management and regularly reviewing performance. The Board’s key objectives are to increase 
shareholder value within an appropriate framework which safeguards the rights and interests of the Company’s shareholders and ensure the Company 
is properly managed. 
 
As well as matters expressly required by law to be approved by the Board, the Board's responsibilities include: 
 
Company direction and integrity of external reporting 

• establishing and monitoring the Company’s strategic and financial objectives;  
• approving the budget, the business plan and compliance policies; and  
• approving annual accounts, reports and other public documents. 

 
Stakeholder interests 

• within the constraints of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ASX Listing Rules, approving the issue of any shares, options, equity instruments 
or other securities in the Company; 

• convening general meetings of the Company shareholders; and 
• considering the Company’s corporate governance policies. 

 
Risk oversight and management, and culture 

• setting compliance with regulatory requirements and ethical standards; 
• reviewing and ratifying the risk management strategies; 
• overseeing the Company’s risk management and continuous disclosure obligations;  
• overseeing effective internal control systems;  
• encouraging a culture that promotes ethical and responsible decision-making, in compliance with legal responsibilities and transparency 

through effective and timely reporting; and 
• approving any matters in excess of the discretion that it delegates to the Managing Director and senior management in relation to business 

transactions, credit transactions, risk limits and expenditure. 
 
Nomination, Remuneration and Performance 

• approving the remuneration and conditions of service including financial incentives for the direct reports to the Managing Director, as 
recommended by the Remuneration and Performance Committee; 

• establishing any incentive plan for Company officers and employees; 
• assessing management's performance in achieving any strategies and budgets; 
• appointing and removing the Managing Director and Company Secretary and determining his or her terms and conditions of service, including 

approving any financial incentives; 
• evaluating the performance of the Managing Director; 
• contributing to management's development of corporate strategy and performance objectives; 
• satisfying itself that processes and plans are in place to maintain an orderly succession of appointments of Non-Executive Directors to the 

Board and an appropriate balance of skills within the Board; and 
• recommending the appointment and reviewing the performance of Directors and senior management. 

 
Delegated authority 

• the Managing Director has been delegated the responsibility of the day-to-day running of the Company (except for those matters expressly 
reserved to the Board or senior management); and 

• the Company Secretary has been delegated the responsibility of preparing for and arranging Board and Board Committee meetings, 
responsibility for the overall administration of the Communications Strategy and all communications by the Company with the ASX, as well as 
assisting the Board to achieve its corporate governance objectives. 

 
Performance of the Board, Board Committees, Individual Directors and senior management 
The Board, with the assistance of the Remuneration and Performance Committee, reviews the performance and effectiveness of the Board, Board 
Committees and individual Directors at least annually. Each Director is required to submit to the Remuneration and Performance Committee their views 
on the performance and effectiveness of the Board and the Board Committees and their individual performance.  The process also includes internal 
interviews by the Chairman with each Director with a report on recommendations and findings prepared by the Chairman.  
 
The role of the Remuneration and Performance Committee includes the identification of those areas of governance and performance that may require 
an increased level of attention by the Board and recommends improvements to the Board's processes and procedures. 
 
The Managing Director annually conducts performance reviews of members of senior management against measures appropriate to Nexus’ operations 
and activities. 
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Principle 2: Structure the Board to add value 
 
Composition of the Board 
In accordance with the Company’s Constitution, there must be a minimum of three to a maximum of twelve Directors with the majority being Non-
Executive Directors. The Board determines the size of the Board within those limits and annually reviews its size and composition, this includes taking 
into consideration that there is an appropriate number of Directors who satisfy the criteria for independence as set out in the Company’s Independence 
of Directors Policy. A Director (other than the Managing Director) may not retain office for more than three years without submitting themselves for re-
election. 
 
As at the date of this report, the Board is comprised of seven Directors, being one Executive Director and six Non-Executive Directors. The roles of 
Managing Director and Chairman of the Board are held by separate individuals. The Board includes Directors who have a proper understanding of the 
Company’s business and who can add value in the context of that business. The Nomination Committee assists the Board in identifying the appropriate 
skills and experience required for the Board and to identify potential new candidates for the Board. 
 
Recommendation 2.2 of the revised Corporate Governance Council Principles provides that the Chair should be an independent director. The Chair of 
Board, Michael Fowler was appointed as an Executive Director on 28 May 2009 to provide additional support with the direct management of the 
Company. The Board considered that in the Company’s circumstances that the additional support was required and it was appropriate for the Chair to 
be an Executive Director and not independent. On 2 July 2011, Michael Fowler ceased the role as Executive Chairman and was appointed Non-
Executive Chairman.   
 
The skills, experience, expertise and commencement dates and period of office held by each Director is set out in the Directors’ Report.  
 
Director Independence 
The Company recognises the importance of independent Directors on the Board so that it can effectively review and challenge the performance of 
management and exercise independent judgement. The Board has determined that its composition should include a majority of independent Directors 
and has developed criteria for independence of Directors set out in the Company’s Independence of Directors Policy. The criteria for independence are 
set out in the company's Independence of Directors Policy and Recommendation 2.1 of the ASX Corporate Governance Guidelines.  
 
The Board annually assesses the independence of each Director within the materiality thresholds taking into consideration all relevant information, facts 
and circumstances.  An assessment of a Directors independence is also made prior to an appointment or upon a disclosure of a change in their 
circumstances which may affect their independence or give rise to a conflict of interest with their duties to the Company.   
 
The Board have adopted an independence criteria and materiality thresholds to assist with the assessment of independence.  The independence criteria 
and materiality thresholds for a Director to be not independent include: 

• being employed in an executive capacity by the Company within the last three years; 
• the Director and any entity or individual directly or indirectly associated with the Director holds more than 5% of Company shares; or 
• the Director and any entity or individual directly or indirectly associated with the Director receives material (greater than $250,000 per annum) 

consulting, advisory or other fees from the Company except in the capacity as a Director.    
 
Directors are required to keep the Board apprised of any potential conflicts of interest they may have with the interests of the Company or circumstances 
which may affect their independence. A Directors declaration of interests is tabled at each Board meeting. 
 
The Company has consultancy services agreements with director related entities of Ian Boserio and Steven Lowden. The consultancy services provided 
by these Non-Executive Directors are on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates. 
 
Based on the Boards assessment of independence of each Director, there are five Non-Executive Directors who satisfy the criteria for independence 
being Michael Arnett, Ian Boserio, Symon Drake-Brockman, John Hartwell and Steven Lowden.  Michael Fowler is not independent given that he held 
the position of Executive Chairman from 28 May 2009 until 2 July 2011. 
 
Board Meetings 
The Board usually meets on a bi-monthly basis and, where appropriate, receives presentations from senior management who may be questioned 
directly by Board members on any matter including operational and commercial issues. The Board considers issues relating to continuous disclosure, 
risk oversight and management at every meeting.  
 
Directors are also required to attend Board meetings for committees to which they have been appointed. The number of Board meetings held during the 
reporting period and each Director's attendance is set out in the Directors’ Report.  
 
Independent Professional Advice 
Each director, with the approval of the Chairman, can obtain independent professional advice at the Company’s cost, in relation to their position while 
acting as a Director of the Company to help them carry out their responsibilities. Each Director has unrestricted access to all relevant Company records, 
information and senior management. 
 
Board Committees 
The Board has established various Committees to assist in carrying out its responsibilities.  During the reporting year an internal review of the Board 
Committees was performed and it was determined that due to the size of the organisation and specific circumstances that the Committees required 
include the following: 

• Audit Committee; 
• Remuneration and Performance Committee; and  
• Nomination Committee. 

 
The Board has adopted charters setting out matters relevant to the composition, responsibilities and administration of each of these committees.  
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Nomination Committee 
The Nomination Committee's role, responsibilities, composition and membership requirements are documented in the Nomination Committee Charter. 
The role of the committee is to make recommendations to the Board in relation to: 

• the identification of suitable candidates for nomination to the Board, Board Committees and senior management;  
• succession planning for the Board and senior management; 
• the appointment and re-election of Directors; and 
• ensuring the skills needed are available to the Board to discharge its duties and add value to the Company. 

 
The members of the Nomination Committee include the whole Board with Ian Boserio as Committee Chair during the reporting period. On 2 July 2011, 
John Hartwell was appointed as Chair of the Committee.   
 
Nomination Committee matters were included as part of the Meetings of the Board. Directors having a conflict of interest in relation to a particular item of 
business of the Nomination Committee must absent themselves from the Nomination Committee meeting before commencement of discussion on the 
topic. 
 
The Board may consider a restructure so that the committee comprises at least three members of the Board to the Nomination Committee, but not 
including the Managing Director. A majority of those members will be independent Non-Executive Directors.  
 
Principle 3: Promote ethical and responsible decision-making 
 
Code of Conduct 
The Company has established a Code of Conduct which recognises the Company’s commitment to business and corporate ethics and recognition of the 
interests of shareholders. Directors, senior management, employees and where relevant and to the extent possible, contractors of the Company are 
required to comply with the Code of Conduct. 
 
The Board recognises that it has a responsibility to shareholders, employees, clients and the community as a whole and is committed to corporate 
practices that reflect these responsibilities. The Company requires that senior management and employees act in a manner that reflects the highest of 
standards of behaviour and professionalism. It emphasises the need for honesty and integrity in all areas and in particular, in relation to legal 
compliance, record keeping, conflicts of interest, and confidentiality.  
 
Restrictions on Dealings in Securities 
Directors, senior management, employees, contractors, consultants and advisors of the Company (“Designated Persons”) are restricted under the 
Corporations Act on applying for, acquiring or disposing of securities in or derivatives or other relevant financial products of Nexus securities (“Company 
Securities”) if they are in possession of inside information. 
 
The Company has established a Securities Trading Policy which sets out the circumstances in which Designated Persons may deal or trade in 
Company Securities with the objective that no Designated Person will contravene the requirements of the Corporations Act.  
 
The Securities Dealing Policy is not designed to prohibit Designated Persons from investing in Company Securities but does recognise that there may 
be times when Designated Persons cannot or should not invest in Company Securities. Additionally, a person in possession of inside information in 
relation to the Company must not deal in Company Securities or procure another person to deal in Company Securities. 
 
The Company expressly prohibits Directors, senior management and employees from short term trading of Company Securities and trading in shares of 
any other entity if in possession of inside information on such entity which they acquire by virtue of their position as a Director, senior manager or 
employee of Nexus. 
 
Directors, senior management and employees are not permitted to deal in Company Securities during the following Closed Periods: 

• four weeks up to and including the day on which the Company’s half-yearly results are announced to the ASX; and 
• four weeks up to and including the day on which the Company’s full year results are announced to the ASX; and 
• any other period determined by the Board from time to time. 

 
A Restricted Person, who is not in possession of inside information, may trade in Company Securities during a Closed Period where there are 
exceptional circumstances. The individual is required to seek clearance to trade and must satisfy the Managing Director (or Chair in the case of the 
Managing Director) and the Company Secretary that they are in severe financial hardship or that their circumstances are otherwise exceptional. 
 
Diversity 
The Company values diversity and recognises the benefits it can bring to the organisations ability to achieve its goals. The Company is committed to 
achieving employee, senior management and Board diversity. The Company is also committed to promoting a corporate culture that embraces diversity 
and recognises the long term value contributed from employees at all levels with diverse experiences and backgrounds. Diversity includes, but is not 
limited to, gender, age, ethnicity and cultural background.  
 
During the reporting period, the Company formally established a Diversity Policy with measurable objectives for achieving greater diversity across the 
Company that included: 

• ensuring that recruitment of employees and Directors is made from a diverse pool of qualified candidates; 
• Setting target proportions of women or other groups of individuals within areas of the Company as follows: 

o Employees – 45% of the Company’s employees and consultants be women. 
o Senior Management – 20% of the Company’s senior management be women. 
o Board – 1 of the board members be a woman. and 

• identifying programmes that assist in the development of a broader pool or skilled and experienced Board candidates. 
 
Privacy of Information 
The Company is committed to protecting the privacy and confidentiality of the information it collects and has established privacy policies applying to the 
use, disclosure, security and storage of the information it collects generally and the information its collects through its website. These policies apply to all 
Directors, senior management and employees of the Company. 
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Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in financial reporting 
 
Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee's role, responsibilities, composition and membership requirements are documented in the Audit Committee Charter.  
 
The primary role of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board to fulfil its corporate governance responsibilities relating to financial accounting practises, 
external financial reporting, financial risk management and internal control, the internal and external audit function, compliance with laws and regulations 
relating to these areas of responsibility and identification and development of strategies and actions to manage business risk. 
 
All members of the Audit Committee are Non-Executive Directors who are financially literate and have the appropriate background, skills and experience 
which is relevant to the operations and financial and strategic risk profile of Nexus. 
 
The Audit Committee is chaired by Michael Arnett, who is not the Chairman of the Board, and includes Symon Drake-Brockman and Steven Lowden. 
Details of Director qualifications and attendance at Audit Committee meetings is set out in the Director’s report. 
 
External Auditors 
The Company and Audit Committee policy is to appoint external auditors who clearly demonstrate quality and independence. The performance of the 
external auditor is reviewed annually and application for tender of external audit services are requested as deemed appropriate, taking into 
consideration assessment of performance, existing value and tender costs.  
 
Moore Stephens was appointed as the external auditor in 2001. It’s Moore Stephens Policy to rotate audit engagement partners on listed companies at 
least every five years. An analysis of fees paid to the external auditors, including break-down of fees for non-audit services is provided in the Directors 
Report to the financial statements. It is the policy of the external auditors to provide an annual declaration of their independence to the Audit Committee. 
The external auditor will attend the annual general meeting and be available to answer shareholder questions about the conduct of the audit and the 
preparation and content of the audit report. 
 
Principle 5: Make timely and balanced disclosure 
 
Continuous Disclosure Policy 
The Company has established a Continuous Disclosure Policy, to ensure that as a minimum, complies with its continuous disclosure obligations under 
the Corporations Act and the ASX Listing Rules and achieves or exceeds best practice, provide shareholders and the market with timely, direct and 
equal access to information issued by the Company, and promote investor confidence in the integrity in the Company and its securities. 
 
To assist in determining whether information regarding the Company is, or may be, material, the Board has adopted materiality guidelines. Whether a 
matter is material must be considered from both a quantitative and qualitative viewpoint. Some guidance is also given to assist in identifying material 
contracts. The Company has also established procedures for the identification and disclosure of material information to ASX. This Continuous 
Disclosure Policy is administered by several key personnel within the Company. 
 
Principle 6: Respect the rights of shareholders 
 
Market Communication  
The Company is committed to effective communication with its shareholders, market participants, customers, employees, suppliers, financiers, creditors, 
other stakeholders and the wider community. The Company will ensure that all stakeholders, market participants and the wider community are informed 
of its activities and performance.  
 
The Company has developed a Communications Strategy containing its approach and commitment to communication and will endeavour to make 
publicly available full information to ensure that trading in its shares takes place in an efficient, competitive, and informed market.  Processes to ensure it 
achieves these goals have been implemented.  
 
Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk 
 
Risk recognition and management are viewed by the Company as integral to the Company’s objectives of creating and maintaining shareholder value, 
and to the successful execution of the Company’s strategies. The Board is responsible for the overall risk management framework and has delegated to 
the Audit Committee the responsibility in relation to the establishment, management and implementation of the company’s key business risks and risks 
systems. 
 
Management is responsible for designing, implementing and reporting on the adequacy of the company’s risk management and internal control system 
and has to report to the Audit Committee on the effectiveness of: 

• the risk management and internal control system during the year, and 
• the company’s management of its material business risks. 

 
The Board of Directors encourage management accountability for the Company’s financial reports requiring the Managing Director to state in writing to 
the Board of Directors that: 

a. the Company’s financial reports present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the Company’s financial condition and operational 
results and are in accordance with relevant Australian Accounting Standards; and 

b. that financial reports are compiled in accordance with best practise and are properly monitored using the Audit Committee and external 
auditors to ensure a sound system of risk management and control. 

 
The identification and effective management of risk, including calculated risk-taking is viewed as an essential part of the Groups approach to creating 
long-term shareholder value. The management team under the direction of the Managing Director is responsible for the designing, implementing and 
reporting on the adequacy of the Company’s risk management and internal controls. 
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The role of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board in managing the risks associated with Nexus’ ongoing operations and prospective actions, in 
particular by focusing on the following activities: 

• the effectiveness of the systems of internal control and risk management; 
• the identification and development of strategies and actions to manage business risk; and 
• the compliance by management with constraints imposed by the Board. 

 
The Audit Committee's role, responsibilities, composition and membership requirements are documented in the Audit Committee Charter. A review of 
Nexus’ risk management will be included as part of the meetings of the Board.  Management are required to provide at each Board meeting a summary 
of potential issues and risks involved with current and prospective matters being undertaken by the Company. 
 
The Board is responsible for satisfying itself that the management team has developed and implemented a sound system of risk management and 
internal control.  Risk management matters have been included as part of the meetings of the Board during the reporting period. 
 
Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly 
 
Remuneration and Performance Committee 
The Remuneration and Performance Committee's role, responsibilities, composition and membership requirements are documented in the 
Remuneration and Performance Committee Charter.  
 
The primary role of the Remuneration and Performance Committee is to advise the board on remuneration and incentive policies and practices, make 
specific recommendations on remuneration packages and other terms of employment for Executive Directors, other senior executives and Non-
Executive Directors. The committee also provides advice and recommendations in relation to assessing the performance of individual Directors, the 
Board and senior management and the skills needed and available to the Board to discharge its duties and add value to the Company.  
 
The committee also assumes responsibility for overseeing management succession planning, including the implementation of appropriate executive 
development programmes and ensuring adequate arrangements are in place, so that appropriate candidates are recruited for later promotion to senior 
positions. 
 
Information on Directors and executive remuneration, including principles used to determine remuneration, are set out in the Directors report under the 
heading ’Remuneration Report’. In accordance with the Company policy, participants in equity based remuneration plans are not permitted to enter into 
any transaction that would limit the economic risk of options or unvested entitlements. 
 
All members of the Remuneration and Performance Committee are Non-Executive Directors.  During the reporting period the committee members were 
Ian Boserio (Chair), Michael Arnett and Symon Drake-Brockman. On 2 July 2011, the committee membership was changed to Ian Boserio (Chair), 
Michael Fowler and John Hartwell.  Details of attendance at the Remuneration and Performance Committee meetings are set out in the director’s report.  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011 
 
   
 

Note 2011 
$ 

2010 
$ 

Sales revenue 3 66,607,811 28,551,872 

Operating costs 4 (68,450,701) (31,481,382) 

Operating loss  (1,842,890) (2,929,510) 

    

Other revenue 3 2,393,569 1,794,410 

Exploration expenditure expensed 5 (8,443,993) (7,590,855) 

Employee benefits expense  (7,096,286) (12,644,313) 

Depreciation and amortisation 5 (167,051) (747,925) 

Finance costs 5 (37,753,676) (33,223,547) 

Mark-to-market gain / (loss) on derivative financial instruments  1,899,202 3,384,922 

Net foreign currency gains / (losses)  (274,887) 262,570 

Inventory write down  (4,065,931) (1,702,118) 

Loss on disposal of inventory  (368,673) (1,619,002) 

Restoration provision expense  (10,039,493) 10,541,624 

Gain on extinguishment of borrowings  14,609,199 - 

Impairment of production asset 17 (81,772,347) - 

Other expenses  (11,118,628) (6,264,623) 

Loss before income tax  (144,041,885) (50,738,367) 

Income tax credit  6 104,839,529 51,769,524 

Profit / (loss) for the year  (39,202,356) 1,031,157 

    

Other comprehensive income    

Hedge reserve movement  - 240,611 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  - - 

Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year  (39,202,356)  1,271,768 

    

Basic earnings per share (cents) 8 (3.73) 0.12 

Diluted earnings per share (cents) 8 (3.71) 0.12 

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

  Nexus Energy Limited and Subsidiaries  /  21 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2011 

 

 

 Note 2011 
$ 

2010 
$ 

Current Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 9 62,611,651 24,923,857 

Trade and other receivables 10 9,062,690 12,176,030 

Inventories 11 1,432,776 5,499,158 

Other current assets 12 3,031,654 618,830 

Total Current Assets  76,138,771 43,217,875 

Non-Current Assets    

Trade and other receivables 10 6,388,670 5,809,431 

Property, plant and equipment 13 226,030 208,041 

Deferred tax asset 6 202,336,211 114,067,937 

Intangible assets 14 4,523 158,276 

Exploration and evaluation assets 15 10,140,415 16,820,787 

Development assets 16 311,592,676 274,226,289 

Production assets 17 332,508,009 447,969,310 

Other non-current assets 12 25,116,258 16,882,929 

Total Non-Current Assets  888,312,792 876,143,000 

Total Assets  964,451,563 919,360,875 

Current Liabilities    

Trade and other payables 18 43,669,701 11,361,482 

Borrowings 19 11,000,000 - 

Total Current Liabilities  54,669,701 11,361,482 

Non-Current Liabilities    

Trade and other payables 18 8,059,040 11,562,063 

Derivative financial liabilities 20 1,654,568 3,553,772 

Borrowings 19 201,207,219 290,270,202 

Long-term provisions 21 45,851,866 35,824,225 

Deferred tax liability 6 20,110,221 38,206,358 

Total Non-Current Liabilities  276,882,914 379,416,620 

Total Liabilities  331,552,615 390,778,102 

Net Assets  632,898,948 528,582,773 

Equity    

Issued capital 22 688,933,738 544,505,729 

Reserves 23 7,681,094 8,590,572 

Retained profits/(accumulated losses)  (63,715,884) (24,513,528) 

Total Equity  632,898,948 528,582,773 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011 
 
 

Issued capital 
$ 

Retained profits/ 
(accumulated 

losses) 
$ 

Share based 
payments 

reserve 
$ 

 
 

Hedge reserve 
$ 

Total equity 
$ 

Balance as at 1 July 2009 469,756,885 (25,544,685) 7,624,927 (240,611) 451,596,516 

Comprehensive Income      
Profit for the year - 1,031,157 - - 1,031,157 

Other comprehensive income for the year - - - 240,611 240,611 

Total comprehensive income for the year - 1,031,157 - 240,611 1,271,768 

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners, and other transfers      

Shares issued less transaction costs 73,151,251 - - - 73,151,251 

Deferred tax credit on shares issue costs 1,597,593 - - - 1,597,593 

Share based payments expense - - 965,645 - 965,645 

Total transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners, and other transfers 74,748,844 - 965,645 - 75,714,489 

Balance as at 30 June 2010 544,505,729 (24,513,528) 8,590,572 - 528,582,773 

      
Balance at 1 July 2010 544,505,729 (24,513,528) 8,590,572 - 528,582,773 
Comprehensive Income      
Loss for the year - (39,202,356) - - (39,202,356) 

Other comprehensive income for the year - - - - - 

Total comprehensive income for the year - (39,202,356) - - (39,202,356) 

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners, and other transfers      

Shares issued less transaction costs 142,903,127 - - - 142,903,127 

Deferred tax credit on shares issue costs 1,524,882 - - - 1,524,882 

Share based payments credit - - (909,478) - (909,478) 

Total transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners, and other transfers 144,428,009 - (909,478) - 143,518,531 

Balance as at 30 June 2011 688,933,738 (63,715,884) 7,681,094 - 632,898,948 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011 
 
 Note 

2011 
$ 

2010 
$ 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities    

Receipts from customers  72,743,956 31,895,564 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (64,385,880) (45,968,100) 

Interest received  1,445,724 1,350,315 

Finance costs  (20,788,343) (13,340,715) 

Net Cash Provided by / (used in) Operating Activities 28 (10,984,543) (26,062,936) 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities    

Payments for plant and equipment and intangible assets  (230,386) (47,064) 

Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment  8,997 4,945 

Proceeds from sale of casing  541,006 2,540,146 

Payments for exploration, development and production expenditure  (13,011,746) (90,268,965) 

(Payments) / proceeds for operated joint venture exploration expenditure  - (174,204) 

Net Cash Flows Provided by / (used in) Investing Activities  (12,692,129) (87,945,142) 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities    

Proceeds from issue of shares  136,511,905 74,516,569 

Payments for transaction costs arising on share issues  (5,063,610) (1,365,318) 

Proceeds from borrowings  - 45,910,600 

Repayment of borrowings  (70,000,000) - 

Repayment of deposit received on conditional sale of permit  - (35,000,000) 

Net Cash Flows Provided by / (used in) Financing Activities  61,448,295 84,061,851 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents held  37,771,623 (29,946,227) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year  24,923,857 55,376,991 

Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash and cash 
equivalents held in foreign currencies  (83,829) (506,907) 

Cash and cash equivalents at End of Financial Year 9 62,611,651 24,923,857 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
These consolidated financial statements and notes represent those of Nexus Energy Limited (”Company”) and Subsidiaries (”Group”). The separate 
financial statements of the parent entity, Nexus Energy Limited, have not been presented within this financial report as permitted by amendments made 
to the Corporations Act 2001 effective as at 28 June 2010. 
 
(a) Basis of Preparation 
The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, 
Australian Accounting Interpretations, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) and the Corporations 
Act 2001. 
 
Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result in financial statements containing relevant and 
reliable information about transactions, events and conditions. Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures that the financial statements 
and notes comply with International Financial Reporting Standards. Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements 
are presented below and have been consistently applied unless otherwise stated. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on historical costs, modified, when relevant, by the measurement at 
fair value of selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities. 
 
(b)  Principles of Consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Nexus Energy Limited and its Subsidiaries (“Group”). A controlled entity is 
any entity controlled by Nexus Energy Limited whereby Nexus Energy Limited has the power to control the financial and operating policies of an entity 
so as to obtain benefits from its activities. A list of controlled entities is provided in Note 24 to the financial statements. All controlled entities have a June 
financial year-end. 
 
As at the reporting date the assets and liabilities of all controlled entities have been incorporated into the consolidated financial statements as well as 
their results for the year then ended. Where controlled entities have entered or left the Group during the period, their operating results have been 
included/excluded from the date control was obtained or until the date control ceased. All inter-company balances and transactions between controlled 
entities in the Group, including any recognised profits or losses, have been eliminated on consolidation. Accounting policies of controlled entities have 
been changed where necessary to ensure consistencies with those policies applied by the Company. 
 
(c)  Income Taxes 
The income tax expense / (revenue) for the year comprises current income tax expense / (revenue) and deferred tax expense / (revenue). Petroleum 
Resource Rent Tax is also accounted for as an income tax under the accounting policies described below. 
 
Current tax 
The charge for current income tax expense is based on the profit or loss for the period adjusted for any non-assessable or disallowable items. It is 
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or are substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Current tax liabilities / (assets) are therefore 
measured at the amounts expected to be paid to / (recovered from) the relevant taxation authority. 
 
Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. No deferred income tax will be recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or  
liability, excluding a business combination, where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss.  
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or liability is settled. 
Deferred tax is recognised in the profit or loss except where it relates to items that may be recognised directly to other comprehensive income, in which 
case the deferred tax is adjusted directly against other comprehensive income. Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that future tax profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.  
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same 
taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a 
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The amount of benefits brought to account or which may be realised in the future 
is based on the assumption that no adverse change will occur in income taxation legislation and the anticipation that the Group will derive sufficient 
future assessable income to enable the benefit to be realised and comply with the conditions of deductibility imposed by law. 
 
Tax consolidation 
Nexus Energy Limited and its wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries have formed an income tax consolidated group under the Tax Consolidation Regime 
from 1 July 2003. The tax consolidated group has entered into a tax funding agreement whereby each company in the Group contributes to the income 
tax payable in proportion to their contribution to the net profit before tax of the tax consolidated group. In addition, the agreement provides for the 
allocation of income tax liabilities between entities. In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, Nexus Energy Limited also recognises the 
current tax liabilities(or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from controlled entities in 
the tax consolidated group. Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as amounts 
receivable from or payable to other entities in the Group. 
 
(d)  Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments and bank overdrafts. Bank 
overdrafts, when relevant, are shown within short-term borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial position. 
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
(e)  Receivables 
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision 
for impairment. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 days.  
 
Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off. A provision for impairment 
of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original 
terms of the receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and 
default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the 
provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective 
interest rate. Cash flows relating to short-term receivables are not discounted if the effect of discounting is immaterial. The amount of the impairment 
loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in other expenses. 
 
Where trade receivables for which an impairment allowance had been recognised become uncollectable in a subsequent period they are written off 
against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against other expenses in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 
 
(f)  Inventories  
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of casing and oilfield inventory includes direct materials, direct labour 
and transportation costs relating to oilfield activities. Inventories are reviewed annually for obsolescence. Inventories are deemed obsolete if the net 
realisable value is greater than cost and if the inventories are not in proper condition for use. 
 
(g)  Property, Plant and Equipment 
Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis less depreciation and, when relevant, impairment losses. The carrying amount of plant and 
equipment is reviewed annually by the Directors to ensure it is not in excess of the recoverable amount from these assets. A formal assessment of the 
recoverable amount is made when impairment indication are present. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net cash flows 
that will be received from the asset’s employment and subsequent disposal. The expected net cash flows have been discounted to their present values 
in determining recoverable amounts. An asset’s carrying amount is written down to its recoverable amount if the asset carrying amount is greater than 
its estimated recoverable amount. 
 
The cost of plant and equipment constructed within the Group includes the cost of materials, direct labour, borrowing costs and an appropriate 
proportion of fixed and variable overheads. Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred. 
 
Depreciation 
The depreciable amount of all plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives to the Group commencing 
from the month following their acquisition. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired portion of the lease or the 
estimated useful lives of the improvements. The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are: 
 
Class of Property, Plant and Equipment Depreciation rates 
Leasehold improvements   20% 
Plant and equipment   25-50% 
 
Asset residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. Gains and losses on disposals are 
determined by comparing proceeds with the net carrying amount. These gains and losses are included in the statement of comprehensive income.  
 
(h)  Intangibles 
Computer software 
Computer software is recognised at cost on acquisition. Computer software costs have a finite life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and any impairment losses. Computer software costs are amortised over their useful life ranging from 2 to 3 years. 
 
(i)  Exploration and Evaluation Assets 
Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of each identifiable area of interest. These costs are only carried forward on 
the statement of financial position where rights to tenure are current and to the extent that costs are expected to be recouped through either the 
successful development of the area or where activities in the area have not yet reached a stage that permits reasonable assessment of the existence of 
economically recoverable reserves and active and significant exploration activity in, or in relation to, the area is continuing. A regular review is 
undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to carry forward costs in relation to that area of interest. Impairment 
of assets is discussed in Note 1(o).  
 
Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written down in full in the statement of comprehensive income during the period in which the 
decision to abandon the area is made. Proceeds on sale or farm-out of an area within an exploration area of interest are offset against the carrying 
value of the particular area involved. Where the total carrying value of an area has been recouped in this manner, the balance of the proceeds is 
brought to account in the statement of comprehensive income. Where the technical and commercial feasibility of a particular area of interest has been 
demonstrated the accumulated exploration and evaluation expenditure is reclassified to development expenditure. 
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
(j)  Production and Development Assets 
Development assets are recognised at cost less any impairment losses and are accumulated in respect of each separate area of interest. Development 
costs related to an area of interest are carried forward to the extent that they are expected to be recouped either through sale or successful exploitation 
of the area of interest. When an area of interest is abandoned or the Directors decide that it is not commercial, any accumulated cost in respect of that 
area is written down in the financial period the decision is made. Each area of interest is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and accumulated 
costs are written down to the extent that they will not be recoverable in the future. Impairment of assets is discussed in Note 1(o). Amortisation is not 
charged on costs carried forward in respect of areas of interest in the development phase until production commences. When production commences, 
carried forward exploration and development costs are amortised on a units of production basis over the life of the area of interest according to the rate 
of depletion of the economically recoverable reserves. 
 
(k)  Trade and Other Payables 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year which are unpaid. The amounts are 
unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. The amounts which are considered payable after 12 months have been classified as non-
current and are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
 
(l)  Borrowings 
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any 
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in the profit or loss over the period of the 
borrowings using the effective interest method. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 
 
(m)  Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is probable that an outflow of 
economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration 
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. Provision for restoration is recognised when there is a legal or constructive 
obligation to do so. A corresponding restoration asset amount (included in exploration and evaluation expenditure asset) is created equivalent to the 
amount of the provision. The amount recognised is the estimated cost of restoration, discounted to its net present value and is reassessed each year in 
accordance with local conditions and requirements. Changes in the estimates of restoration cost estimates are dealt with prospectively by recording an 
adjustment to the provision and a corresponding adjustment to the restoration asset. The unwinding of the discount on the restoration provision is shown 
separately on the face of the statement of comprehensive income. 
 
(n)  Leases 
Leases of plant and equipment where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the asset, but not the legal ownership that are 
transferred to entities in the Group are classified as finance leases. 
 
Finance leases are capitalised by recording an asset and a liability at the lower of the amounts equal to the fair value of the leased property or the 
present value of the minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual values. Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the 
lease liability and the lease interest expense for the period. Leased assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives 
where it is likely that the Group will obtain ownership of the asset or over the term of the lease.  
 
Operating leases are not capitalised. Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are 
charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred. Lease incentives under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a 
straight-line basis over the life of the lease term. 
 
(o)  Impairment of Assets 
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any 
indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication of impairment exists, the Group makes an estimate of recoverable amount, being 
the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Where the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount any 
excess is recognised as an expense in the profit or loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group 
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Cash generating units represent the lowest level of group 
assets for which there are separately identifiable cash flows, which are largely independent on the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. 
Non financial assets, other than goodwill that were previously impaired are reviewed for a possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting period. 
 
(p)  Interests in Joint Venture Operations 
The proportionate interests in the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of joint venture operation have been incorporated in the consolidated 
financial statements under the appropriate headings. 
 
(q)  Financial Guarantees 
Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The liability is measured at fair values initially 
and subsequently measured at the higher of: 
• the amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with AASB 137: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 

Assets; or 
• the amount recognised initially less cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with revenue recognition policies. 
 
The fair value of financial guarantee contracts has been assessed using a probability weighted discounted cash flow approach. The probability has been 
based on: 
• the likelihood of the guaranteed party defaulting in a year period; 
• the proportion of the exposure that is not expected to be recovered due to the guaranteed party defaulting; and 
• the maximum loss exposed if the guaranteed party were to default.  
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
(r)  Financial Instruments 
Recognition 
Financial instruments, incorporating financial assets and financial liabilities, are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value on trade date plus in the case of financial asset or financial liability 
not at fair value through the profit and loss, transaction costs, when the related contractual rights or obligations exist. Subsequent to initial recognition 
these instruments are measured as set out below. 
 
Derecognition 
Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expires or the asset is transferred to another party whereby the 
entity no longer has any significant continuing involvement in the risks and benefits associated with the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised 
where the related obligations are either discharged, cancelled or expire. The difference between the carrying value of the financial liability extinguished 
or transferred to another party and the fair value of consideration paid, including the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities assumed, is recognised in 
profit or loss. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through the profit or loss 
A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term or if so designated by management and 
within the requirement of AASB 139 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement ’. Derivatives are also recognised as held for trading unless 
they are designated as hedges. Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of these assets are recognised in the 
profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Assets in this category are classified as current assets. 
 
Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and are stated at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. They are included in current assets except those with maturities greater than 12 months after the 
reporting date which are classified as non-current assets. 
 
Held-to-maturity investments 
These investments have fixed maturities, and it is the Group’s intention to hold these investments to maturity. Any held-to-maturity investments held by 
the Group are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. These assets are classified as non-current assets except those with 
maturities less than 12 months from the reporting date which are classified as current assets. 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets 
Available-for-sale financial assets include any financial assets not included in the above categories. Available-for-sale financial assets are reflected at 
fair value. Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income and included in the available-
for-sale asset revaluation reserve. They are included in non-current assets unless management intends on disposing of the investment within 12 months 
of the reporting date. 
 
Financial liabilities 
Non-derivative financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, comprising original debt less principal 
payments and amortisation. 
 
Derivative instruments 
Derivative instruments are measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are taken to the statement of comprehensive 
income unless they are designated as hedges, in which case the accounting treatment is dependent on the nature of item being hedged. 
 
Hedging  
In accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 139 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’, for the Company’s foreign 
exchange contracts are considered qualifying cash flow hedges and the portion of the gain or loss that is considered to be an effective hedge is 
recognised directly in other comprehensive income with the ineffective portion recognised in the profit or loss.  
 
Fair value 
Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation techniques are applied to determine the fair value for all 
unlisted securities, including recent arm’s length transactions, reference to similar instruments and option pricing models. 
 
Impairment 
At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial instrument has been impaired. In the case 
of available-for-sale financial instruments, a significant or prolonged decline in the value of the instrument is considered to determine whether an 
impairment has arisen. Impairment losses are recognised in the profit or loss. 
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
(s)  Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances 
Functional and presentation currency 
The functional currency of each of the Group’s entities is the currency of the primary economic environment in which that entity operates. The 
consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. 
 
Transaction and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency 
monetary items are translated at the year-end exchange rate. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost continue to be carried at the exchange 
rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value are reported at the exchange rate at the date when fair values were 
determined.  
 
Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items are recognised in the profit or loss, except where deferred in equity as a qualifying 
cash flow or net investment hedge. Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items are recognised directly in equity to the extent 
that the gain or loss is directly recognised in equity, otherwise the exchange difference is recognised in the profit or loss. 
 
(t)  Revenue 
Sale of Gas and Condensate 
The Group’s operating revenue derived from the sale of condensate is brought to account after each shipment is loaded. Gas sales are recognised on 
production following delivery into the pipeline. 
 
Interest 
Interest revenue is recognised on a proportional basis taking into account the interest rates applicable to the financial assets. 
 
(u)  Borrowing Costs 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to prepare 
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 
All other borrowing costs are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they are incurred. 
 
(v)  Employee Benefits 
Wages and salaries, leave entitlements 
An accrual is made for the Group’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period. 
Employee benefits that are expected to be settled within one year have been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled, 
plus related on-costs. 
 
Employee benefits payable later than one year have been measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those 
benefits. In calculating the present value of future cash outflows in respect of long service leave, the probability of long service leave being taken is 
based on experience of employee departures and periods of service. 
 
Retirement benefits 
An accrual is made for the Group’s liability for Director termination and redundancy benefits arising from services rendered by Directors in accordance 
with their employment contract. Director retirement benefits that are expected to be settled within one year have been measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liability is settled. 
 
Share based payments 
Share based compensation benefits are provided to employees via the Nexus Energy Limited Executive Director and Employee Share Option Plan. The 
fair value of options granted are measured at the fair value of the equity instrument at the grant date. Fair value is measured by use of a binomial model. 
The expected life used in the model has been adjusted based on management’s best estimate, for effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and 
behavioural considerations. The fair value determined at grant date is expensed on a straight line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s 
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest. The number of equity instruments expected to vest is reviewed and adjusted at the end of each 
reporting period. 
 
(w)  Goods and Services Tax (“GST”) 
Revenues, expenses, commitments and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable 
from the Australian Taxation Office (“ATO”). In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or equity or as 
part of an item of expense. Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the statement of financial position. 
 
Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing and financing 
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows. 
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
(x)  Significant Accounting Estimates and Judgments 
In applying the Group’s accounting policies, the Board and management evaluate estimates and judgments based on historical knowledge and best 
available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data obtained 
both externally and within the Group. Significant estimates and judgments made by management in the preparation for these financial statements are 
outlined below: 
 
Impairment of production and development assets 
In determining the recoverable amount of assets, in the absence of quoted market prices, estimates are made regarding the present value of the future 
cash flows. For oil and gas properties, expected future cash flow estimate is based on reserves, future production profiles, commodity prices and costs. 
The Group assesses impairment at the end of each reporting period by evaluating conditions specific to the Group that may lead to the impairment of 
production and development assets. Where an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. Value-in-use calculations 
are performed in assessing recoverable amounts and are based on the present value of future cash flows which incorporate a number of key estimates. 
Refer to Notes 16 to 17 for further details. 
 
Prepayments 
In determining the recoverable amount of assets, in the absence of quoted market prices, estimates are made regarding the present value of the future 
cash flows. For prepayments relating to prepaid toll fees, recoverability is dependent upon expected future cash flow estimates based on reserves and 
future production profiles. 
 
Capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure 
The future recoverability of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is dependent on a number of factors, including whether the Group 
decides to exploit the related exploration permit itself or, if not, whether it successfully recovers the related exploration and evaluation asset through 
sale. Factors that could affect the future recoverability include the level of economically recoverable reserves, future technological changes which could 
impact the cost of development, future legal changes (including changes to environmental and restoration obligations) and changes to commodity 
prices. To the extent that capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is determined not to be recoverable in the future, financial results and net 
assets will be reduced during the financial period in which this determination is made. 
 
In addition, exploration and evaluation expenditure is carried forward on the basis that exploration and evaluation activities in the areas of interest have 
not at the end of the reporting period reached a stage that permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable 
reserves, and active and significant operations in, or in relation to, the areas of interest are continuing. To the extent it is determined in the future this 
capitalised expenditure should be written off in the statement of comprehensive income, financial results and net assets will be reduced during the 
financial period in which this determination is made. Information on the reasonable existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves is 
progressively gained through geological analysis and interpretation, drilling activity and prospect evaluation during a normal permit term. A reasonable 
assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves can generally only be made, therefore, at the conclusion of those 
exploration and evaluation activities. The Group’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure is set out in Note 1 (i). The carrying 
amount of exploration and evaluation assets and the assumptions used in the estimate of recoverable amount is disclosed in note 15. The estimate of 
recoverable amounts were made together with the associated production or development assets in the same area of interest (Note 16 and Note 17). 
 
Share based payments 
The Group measures the cost of equity settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which 
they are granted. The fair value is determined using the binomial options pricing model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the 
instruments were granted. The accounting estimates and assumptions relating to equity-settled share based payments would have no impact on the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period but may impact profit and loss and other comprehensive income. 
 
Restoration provisions 
The Group estimates the future removal costs of offshore equipment at the time of installation and reviews these assessments every 5 years. The 
removal of these assets will occur many years in the future. This therefore requires management to make judgments regarding removal method, future 
legislation, reclamation activities required, engineering methodology for estimating costs, future removal technologies and discount rates to determine 
the present value of the cash flows. For more detail regarding the policy in respect of provisions for restoration refer to Note 1 (m). The carrying amount 
of the provision for restoration is disclosed in note 21. 
 
Income tax 
The Group is subject to income taxes in Australia. There are many transactions and calculations undertaken during the ordinary course of business for 
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group estimates its tax liabilities based on the Group’s understanding of the tax law. Where the 
final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred tax 
balances in the financial period in which such determination is made. The Group recognises deferred tax assets on tax losses carried forward and 
petroleum resource rent tax credits on the basis they will be applied against future taxable profits. 
 
Estimates on reserve quantities 
The estimated quantities of proven plus probable reserves are integral to the calculation of amortisation expense and the assessment of possible 
impairment of assets. Estimated reserve quantities are based upon interpretations of geological and geophysical models and assessments of technical 
feasibility and commercial viability of producing the reserves. These estimates require assumptions to be made regarding future development and 
production costs, commodity prices and exchange rates. The estimates of reserves may change from period to period, and as additional geological data 
is generated during the course of the operations. Reserve estimates are prepared in accordance with guidelines prepared by the Society of Petroleum 
Engineers. 
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2. PARENT INFORMATION   
 

The following information has been extracted from the books and records 
of the parent and has been prepared in accordance with the accounting 
standards 

 
 

 

 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 

Assets    

Current assets  60,614,505 24,360,256 

Total Assets  596,721,682 541,187,765 

Liabilities    

Current Liabilities  3,413,628 934,919 

Total Liabilities  131,673,605 138,545,901 

Equity    

Issued Capital  688,933,738 544,505,729 

Share based payments reserve  7,681,094 8,590,572 

Retained profits / accumulated losses)  (231,566,755) (150,454,437) 

Total Equity  465,048,077 402,641,864 

    

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME    

Total profit / (loss) for the year  (81,112,417) (20,615,689) 

Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year  (81,112,417) (20,615,689) 

    

Guarantees and Contingent Liabilities    

Refer to Note 19 for details of guarantees provided by the parent entity in 
relation to the Groups Bank Loan. Refer to Note 34 for details of bank 
guarantees in relation to leased offices.  

 
 

 

    

Contractual Commitments    

Refer to note 27 for details of contractual commitments.    

   

  2011 
$ 

2010 
$ 

 
3. REVENUE     

Sale of gas and condensate  66,607,811 28,551,872 

  66,607,811 28,551,872 

Other Revenue    

Interest income on cash and cash equivalents  1,445,724 1,350,315 

Services revenue from joint venture operations  432,271 444,095 

Rental income on sub-lease  515,574 - 

  2,393,569 1,794,410 

    

4. OPERATING COSTS    

Production costs  27,945,409 13,700,480 

Royalty expense  1,933,924 824,322 

Amortisation of production asset  38,571,368 16,956,580 

Total operating costs  68,450,701 31,481,382 
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  2011 
$ 

2010 
$ 

5. PROFIT / (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR     

Profit / (loss) before income tax includes the following expense items:    

Exploration and evaluation expenditure expensed  8,443,993 7,590,855 

Finance costs:    

- interest expense on bank loans  20,075,093 12,886,351 

- interest expense on senior subordinated notes  17,629,843 20,189,506 

- other  48,740 147,690 

Total finance costs  37,753,676 33,223,547 

Depreciation and amortisation:    

- plant and equipment  54,520 270,693 

- leasehold improvements  42,332 28,090 

- software  70,199 449,142 

Total depreciation and amortisation  167,051 747,925 

Rental expense on operating leases – minimum lease payments  1,972,583 1,538,064 

6. INCOME TAX    

(a)  Income tax recognised in profit and loss    

Tax expense / (income) comprises:    

Deferred income tax  (43,346,379) (14,954,686) 

Deferred tax – Petroleum Resource Rent Tax (net of income tax benefits)  (61,787,792) (36,814,838) 
Recognition of temporary differences and tax losses not previously brought 
to account  294,642 - 

  (104,839,529) (51,769,524) 

    
The prima facie tax on profit / (loss) before income tax is reconciled to 
income tax as follows:    

Prima facie tax payable on the profit / (loss) before income tax calculated 
at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2010: 30%)  (43,212,566) (15,221,510) 

Add tax effect of:    

Under / (over) provided in prior year  - (113,814) 

Share based payments expense  (272,843) 289,693 

Temporary differences and tax losses not previously brought to account  294,642 - 

Other Non deductible items  139,030 90,945 

Income tax expense / (income)   (43,051,737) (14,954,686) 

Petroleum Resource Rent Tax (net of income tax benefits)  (61,787,792) (36,814,838) 

Total tax expense (income)  (104,839,529) (51,769,524) 

Applicable weighted average effective tax rate / (tax benefit)  (73%) (102%) 
The increase in the weighted average effective tax rate / (tax benefit) is the 
result of the tax benefits on the deferred tax balances and tax benefit on 
groups PRRT credits. Included in tax expense(income) is tax income of 
$61,787,792 (net of income tax) which arises principally on augmentation 
of the Group’s PRRT credits relating to exploration and development costs 
incurred up to 30 June 2011. 

   

    
(b) Income tax recognised directly in equity.    
Aggregate current and deferred tax arising in the reporting period and not 
recognised in net profit and or loss but directly debited or credited to 
equity: 

   

Deferred tax    
Unclaimed equity raising costs  1,524,882 1,597,593 

Total income tax recognised directly in equity  1,524,882 1,597,593 
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6. INCOME TAX (continued)    

(c) Deferred tax balances      

Deferred tax balances arise from the following:      

2011 
 Opening 

balance 
$ 

Charged to 
income 

$ 

Charged to 
equity 

$ 

Closing 
balance 

$ 

Temporary differences      

Exploration, development and production assets  (119,087,301) 25,805,287 - (93,282,015) 

Petroleum resource rent tax  114,067,937 88,268,274 - 202,336,211 

Petroleum resource rent tax – income tax benefit  (34,220,382) (26,480,482) - (60,700,864) 

Provisions and accruals  10,970,900 3,041,686 - 14,012,585 

Unclaimed takeover costs  744,059 (387,652) - 356,407 

Unclaimed equity raising costs  2,048,671 (1,064,701) 1,524,882 2,508,853 

Senior subordinated notes  2,871,493 (2,452,458) - 419,585 

Inventory  2,254,902 1,219,779 - 3,474,681 

Other  (3,471,970) (195,876) - (3,667,845) 

  (23,821,691) 87,753,857 1,524,882 65,457,048 

Unused tax losses and credits:      

Tax losses  99,683,270 17,085,672 - 116,768,942 

  75,861,579 104,839,529 1,524,882 182,225,990 

Presented in the statement of financial position as 
follows: 

 
    

Deferred tax asset     202,336,211 

Deferred tax liability     (20,110,221) 

     182,225,990 

   

2010 
 Opening 

balance 
$ 

Charged to 
income 

$ 

Charged to 
equity 

$ 

Closing 
balance 

$ 

Temporary differences      

Exploration, development and production assets  (115,872,570) (3,214,731) - (119,087,301) 

Petroleum resource rent tax  61,475,312 52,592,625 - 114,067,937 

Petroleum resource rent tax – income tax benefit  (18,442,595) (15,777,787) - (34,220,382) 

Provisions and accruals  14,210,227 (3,239,327) - 10,970,900 

Unclaimed takeover costs  1,325,371 (581,312) - 744,059 

Unclaimed equity raising costs  1,343,376 (892,298) 1,597,593 2,048,671 

Senior subordinated notes  347,619 2,523,874 - 2,871,493 

Inventory  1,703,564 551,338 - 2,254,902 

Other  (4,998,405) 1,526,435 - (3,471,970) 

  (58,908,101) 33,488,817 1,597,593 (23,821,691) 

Unused tax losses and credits:      

Tax losses  81,402,563 18,280,707 - 99,683,270 

  22,494,462 51,769,524 1,597,593 75,861,579 
Presented in the statement of financial position as 
follows: 

     

Deferred tax asset     114,067,937 

Deferred tax liability     (38,206,358) 

     75,861,579 
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  2011 
$ 

2010 
$ 

 
6. INCOME TAX (Continued) 
(d)  Unrecognised deferred tax assets 

 
  

A deferred tax asset has not been recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Position as the benefits of which will only be realised if the conditions for 
deductibility set out in Note 1 occur:  

  

Tax losses:    

- capital losses  90,400,692 90,400,692 

Potential net tax benefit at Australian tax rate of 30%  27,120,207 27,120,207 
    
7. DIVIDENDS    

There were no ordinary dividends declared or paid during the financial year 
by the Company (2010: $Nil).    

Dividend franking account    

Balance of franking account  - - 

    
8. EARNINGS PER SHARE    
Profit / (loss) used to calculate basic and dilutive profit / (loss) per share  (39,202,356) 1,031,157 

(a)  Basic profit / (loss) per share (cents)  (3.73) 0.12 

(b)  Diluted profit / (loss) per share (cents)  (3.71) 0.12 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
financial year used in calculating basic profit / (loss) per ordinary share:  1,050,468,609 872,376,078 

Weighted average number of dilutive options outstanding:  5,954,914 4,939,565 

Weighted average number of anti-dilutive options outstanding:  33,583,354 35,103,984 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
financial year used in calculating diluted profit/(loss) per share (excluding 
anti-dilutive options outstanding): 

 1,056,423,523 877,315,643 

Potential ordinary shares    

Options outstanding at the end of the financial year are considered to be 
potential ordinary shares and have been included in the determination of 
diluted profit / (loss) per share to the extent to which they are dilutive. The 
options have not been included in the determination of basic profit / (loss) 
per share. 

   

    
9. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS    

Cash at bank and on hand  12,230,201 17,840,240 

Bank deposits at call  45,200,116 1,307,471 

Restricted bank deposits  5,181,334 5,776,146 

Total cash and cash equivalents  62,611,651 24,923,857 
 
(a)  Cash at bank and on hand 
Cash at bank and on hand balance attracted an interest rate of 4.15% as at 30 June 2011 (30 June 2010: 3.05%). The non-interest bearing amounts are 
disclosed at Note 25.  

(b)  Bank deposits at call 
The weighted average interest rate on bank deposits at call as at 30 June 2011 was 5.24% (30 June 2010: 3.15%). These term deposits have a maturity 
of less than 60 days. 

(c)  Restricted bank deposits 
The weighted average interest rate on restricted bank deposits as at 30 June 2011 was 4.15% (30 June 2010: 3.39%). Refer to note 19 for further 
details. 

(d)  Effective interest rates 
Information concerning the Group’s exposure to interest rate changes on cash and cash equivalents is set out in Note 25. 
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  2011 
$ 

2010 
$ 

 
10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

 
  

Current    

Trade and other receivables  9,392,211 12,505,551 

Provision for impairment  (329,521) (329,521) 

Total current trade and other receivables  9,062,690 12,176,030 

Non-current    

Trade and other receivables  6,388,670 5,809,431 

Provision for impairment  - - 

Total non-current trade and other receivables  6,388,670 5,809,431 

    

(a)  Past due but not impaired    

The ageing of these receivables is as follows:    

1 to 3 months  - - 

Greater than 3 months  6,388,670 5,809,431 

  6,388,670 5,809,431 
 
(b) Trade debtors 
Trade debtors are due for settlement no more than 30 days from the date of recognition. Collectability of trade debtors is reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
 
(c) Foreign exchange, interest rate and credit risk 
Information concerning the Company and the Group’s exposure to interest rate changes, foreign exchange and credit risk on both current and non-
current receivables is set out in Note 25. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of each class of receivables 
mentioned above. 
 

11. INVENTORIES 
   

Current    

Casing and oilfield inventory, at cost  9,584,382 9,584,832 
Inventory held for resale  3,430,665 3,430,665 
Less: provision for obsolescence  (11,582,271) (7,516,339) 

Total current inventories  1,432,776 5,499,158 
 

12. OTHER ASSETS    

Current    

Prepayments – prepaid toll fees and insurance  3,031,654 618,830 

Total current other assets  3,031,654 618,830 

Non-current    

Prepayments – prepaid toll fees  25,116,258 16,882,929 

Total non-current other assets  25,116,258 16,882,929 
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  2011 
$ 

2010 
$ 

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT    

Plant and equipment    

At cost  915,171 1,210,312 

Accumulated depreciation  (902,604) (1,135,137) 

Total plant and equipment  12,567 75,175 

Leasehold improvements    

At cost  226,686 326,789 

Accumulated depreciation  (13,223) (193,923) 

Total leasehold improvements  213,463 132,866 

Total property, plant and equipment, at net book value  226,030 208,041 

Reconciliations    
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant 
and equipment are set out below:  

  

Plant and equipment    

Balance at beginning of financial year  75,175 340,870 

Additions  10,002 9,306 

Disposals  (239,781) (15,413) 

Write back of accumulated depreciation on disposal of assets  221,691 11,105 

Depreciation expense  (54,520) (270,693) 

Net carrying amount at end of financial year  12,567 75,175 

Leasehold improvements    

Balance at beginning of financial year  132,866 160,956 

Additions  226,686 - 

Disposals  (326,789) - 

Write back of accumulated depreciation on disposal of assets  223,032 - 

Depreciation expense  (42,332) (28,090) 

Net carrying amount at end of financial year  213,463 132,866 
For details of non-current assets pledged as security by the Consolidated 
Group refer to Note 19. 

   

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS    

Computer software    

At cost  1,342,829 1,709,071 

Accumulated amortisation  (1,338,306) (1,550,795) 

Total intangibles, at net book value  4,523 158,276 

Reconciliation    
Reconciliation of the carrying amount for computer software is set out 
below:    

Balance at beginning of financial year  158,276 569,829 

Additions  11,426 37,757 

Disposals  (294,485) (1,350) 

Amortisation expense  (70,199) (449,142) 

Write back of accumulated amortisation on disposal of assets  199,505 1,182 

Net carrying amount at end of financial year  4,523 158,276 
Intangible assets have finite lives. The amortisation expense for intangible 
assets is included under depreciation and amortisation expense per the 
statement of comprehensive income.  
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  2011 
$ 

2010 
$ 

15. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS    

At cost  10,140,415 16,820,787 

Balance at 30 June  10,140,415 16,820,787 

Reconciliation    

Balance at beginning of financial year  16,820,787 31,110,098 

Additions - expenditure incurred  1,763,621 2,631,836 

Transfer to development and production assets  - (9,330,292) 

Expenditure incurred expensed to the statement of comprehensive income  (8,443,993) (7,590,855) 

Balance at end of financial year   10,140,415 16,820,787 
    
Exploration and evaluation expenditure carried forward relates to the areas of interest in the exploration phase for petroleum exploration permits 
VIC/P54 and WA-377-P (2010: VIC/P54, WA-368-P, WA-424-P and WA-377-P). The expenditure is carried forward on the basis that exploration and 
evaluation expenditure activities in the areas have not reached a stage that permits reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of 
economically recoverable reserves and active and significant activity in, or in relation to, the areas is continuing. 
 
The ultimate recovery of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is dependent on the successful development and commercial exploitation or 
the commercial sale of the relevant areas of interest. 
 

16. DEVELOPMENT ASSETS    

At cost  311,592,676 274,226,289 

Balance at 30 June  311,592,676 274,226,289 

Reconciliation    

Balance at beginning of financial year  274,226,289 655,613,294 

Additions - expenditure incurred  37,366,387 6,083,948 

Transfer to production asset  - (387,470,953) 

Balance at end of financial year  311,592,676 274,226,289 
 
The development expenditure carried forward relates to the Crux asset (AC/L9). The expenditure is carried forward to the extent that it is expected to be 
recouped either through sale or successful exploitation of the area of interest. When production commences the accumulated costs are transferred to 
production assets. 
 
The asset valuations are based on a proved and probable (2P) reserve production profile and various estimates and assumptions. The key assumptions 
used in the cash flow projections include the following: 
• Oil price – starting at a price of US$112 per barrel and based on the Brent Forward Curve for crude oil; 
• Exchange rates – USD/AUD exchange rate of 1.06 in 2012 and based on the forward rate thereafter; 
• Discount rates – the post-tax discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 10%; 
 
The cash flow has been projected over 10 years which is the Build, Own and Operate production profile with a FID targeted for end of 2011 calendar 
year. 
 
No impairment has been recorded at 30 June 2011 (2010: Nil). 
 
Asset valuations based on cash flow projections use a range of assumptions that are subject to change. Accordingly, the recoverable amount of the 
development asset is sensitive to reasonable possible changes in key assumptions. Sensitivity analysis has been performed applying the following 
possible changes in key assumptions: 
• Reserves – 10% decrease in reserves; 
• Oil price – 10% decrease in oil price; 
• Post tax discount rate – 1% increase in post tax discount rate. 
 
The net effect of these changes does not result in impairment in the value of the asset at 30 June 2011. 
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17. PRODUCTION ASSETS    

At cost  469,808,305 464,925,890 

Accumulated amortisation  (55,527,949) (16,956,580) 

Impairment  (81,772,347) - 

Balance at 30 June  332,508,009 447,969,310 

Reconciliation    

Balance at beginning of financial year  447,969,310 - 

Additions - expenditure incurred  4,882,414 68,124,645 

Transfer from development assets  - 387,470,953 

Transfer from exploration expenditure  - 9,330,292 

Impairment  (81,772,347) - 

Amortisation charge for the year  (38,571,368) (16,956,580) 

Balance at end of financial year  332,508,009 447,969,310 
 
The production assets relate to the Longtom gas project (VIC/L29) which commenced production in April 2009. 
 
The asset valuations are based on a proved and probable (2P) reserve production profile and various estimates and assumptions. The key assumptions 
used in the cash flow projections include the following: 
• Oil price – starting at a price of US$112 per barrel and based on the Brent Forward Curve for crude oil; 
• Exchange rates – USD/AUD exchange rate of 1.06 in 2012 and based on the forward rate thereafter; 
• Discount rates – the post-tax discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 14%. 
• Reserves – 2P 350 PJ production profile. 
 
An impairment loss of $81,772,347 has been recognised on the above production assets during the year. For this purpose, Longtom gas field and its 
supporting infrastructure assets as a whole is considered as the cash-generating unit which represents the smallest identifiable group of assets that 
work together and generate cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other groups of assets. For the purpose of assessing 
impairment, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit was estimated as its value-in-use. The circumstances that led to the recognition of this 
impairment loss was a change to the pre-tax discount rate to 14% as a result of risks associated with the subsurface geology and the reservoir 
distribution.  
 
As previously reported, monitoring of reservoir pressure data has indicated that the gas reservoir distribution is likely more complex than the pre-
production interpretation. Additionally, interpretation and mapping of the reprocessed field wide 3D seismic data base has delineated a more complex 
subsurface faulting pattern. The reservoir pressure and seismic studies are being collated into the forward plan for the field development that will include 
an updated reserves report. As a result of these risks it has been determined that a discount rate of 14% be applied to the asset at 30 June 2011. There 
has been no change to the 2P reserves assumption at 30 June 2011.  
 
Asset valuations based on cash flow projections use a range of assumptions that are subject to change. Accordingly, the recoverable amount of the 
production asset is sensitive to reasonable possible changes in key assumptions. Sensitivity analysis has been performed applying the following 
possible changes in key assumptions: 
• Reserves – 10% decrease in reserves would result in an increase in the impairment of $29,507,748. 
• Oil price – 10% decrease in oil price would result in an increase in the impairment of $8,920,830. 
• Post tax discount rate – 1% increase in post tax discount rate would result in an increase in the impairment of $17,238,347. 
 
 

18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES    

Current (unsecured)    

Trade payables  328,155 910,450 

Sundry payables and accrued expenditure  43,341,546 10,451,032 

Total current trade and other payables  43,669,701 11,361,482 

Non-current (unsecured)    

Deferred revenue  8,059,040 11,562,063 

Total non-current trade and other payables  8,059,040 11,562,063 
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19. BORROWINGS    

Current    

Bank loan (secured) (a) 11,000,000 - 

  11,000,000 - 

    

Non-current    

Bank loan (secured) (a) 81,336,981 160,000,000 

Senior subordinated notes (unsecured) (b) 119,870,238 130,270,202 

Total long-term borrowings  201,207,219 290,270,202 
 
(a) Bank Loan 
The Company restructured its existing Longtom senior debt facility repaying $70 million of the $160 million principal outstanding on the original facility 
from funds raised through an accelerated renounceable entitlement offer completed in May 2011. A fixed and sculpted repayment profile for the 
remaining $90 million was agreed under the terms of the facility restructure with scheduled principal repayments commencing in September 2011 and 
maturing in June 2016 unless repaid earlier. As part of the restructure the existing $60 million senior secured letter of credit facility remains in place and 
is undrawn. 
 
Interest continues to be charged at the Reuters BBSW bid rate on the first date of the funding period (three months) plus a margin of 3.5%. Interest is 
payable on the last day of each funding period. A 0.5% payment in kind is capitalised and added to the principal outstanding each funding period. As at 
30 June 2011 the interest rate was 8.88% including the payment in kind (30 June 2010: 8.43%). 
 
As is typical of project lending facilities, the loan is subject to standard financial covenants, loan life cover ratios and debt service cover ratios as well as 
review events. The covenants were satisfied and no review events subsisted during the period ending 30 June 2011 and subsequent to year end. 
 
The Group has provided the following as security to BOS International (Australia) Limited: 

(i) fixed and floating charge over the assets of Nexus Energy Aust. NL, Nexus Energy VIC/P54 Pty Ltd and Nexus Energy Corporate Pty Ltd. 
The carrying amount of assets given as security as at 30 June 2011 was $453,446,006 (30 June 2010: $533,207,744); 

(ii) mortgage over the issued capital in Nexus Energy Aust. NL, Nexus Energy VIC/P54 Pty Ltd, and Nexus Energy Corporate Pty Ltd; and 
(iii) Parental guarantee from Nexus Energy Limited. 

 
As part of the requirements of the facility the Company is required to maintain a interest reserve account equal to the amount of cash interest to be 
payable by the Company during the succeeding six months from the commencement of each funding period. 
 
(b) Senior subordinated notes 
On 3 August 2010, the Company completed the Exchange Offer with acceptance by 86.27% of its $110 million Unsecured Senior Subordinated Notes 
due 2013 (“Existing Notes”) for New Unsecured Senior Subordinated Notes (“New Notes”) and Nexus ordinary shares in accordance with the exchange 
offer announced on 15 July 2010 (“Exchange Offer”). Pursuant to the Exchange Offer, 30,195,455 ordinary shares of the Company were issued to the 
holders of the New Notes on 3 August 2010. The shares issued to new note holders as a result of accepting the Exchange Offer were subject to a six 
month escrow period during which the shares may not be traded. The escrow period on these shares expired on 3 February 2011.  
The terms of the Exchange Offer provided for the exchange of Existing Notes for  (i) New Notes, Tranche A which are due in 2017 and Tranche B which 
are due in 2013, and (ii) Nexus ordinary shares.  The new note holders agreed to forgo the interest payment that were due in July 2010 and January 
2011. The interest charge for the year is calculated by applying an effective interest rate of 19.31% on the liability component. 
A review and valuation of the New Unsecured Senior Subordinated Notes was undertaken for the half year ended 31 December 2010. Upon review of 
the Exchange Offer and in accordance with accounting standards, the Exchange Offer was deemed to be an extinguishment of debt, with the gain on 
extinguishment recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The gain on extinguishment of debt is equal to the difference between the 
carrying amount of the Existing Notes and the fair value of the New Notes at the date of the exchange. A gain on extinguishment of financial liabilities of 
$14.6 million has been taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Under the terms of the Notes the Group’s gearing ratio must not exceed 55%. 
The Group was compliant with this covenant as at 30 June 2011. 
The Existing notes and 31,844,058 Warrants remain in place and are due in January 2013. The Notes carry a semi-annual coupon of 6 months BBSW 
plus a margin of 550 bps. Unless previously redeemed, the Notes will be redeemed at their principal amount on maturity. As at 30 June 2011 the 
interest rate payable on the Notes was 10.48% (2010: 10.12%). The net proceeds received from the issue of the Notes have been allocated to a liability 
and an equity component. The accounting interest charge for the year on the Existing Notes is calculated by applying an effective interest rate of 
15.87% on the liability component. The Notes are subordinated to the Company’s obligation in respect of the Group’s existing senior debt facility. The 
Notes will also be subordinated to similar future senior debt facilities, and are not convertible into Nexus Energy Limited shares. Under the terms of the 
Notes the Group’s gearing ratio (total liabilities to total assets) must not exceed 55%. The Group was compliant with this covenant as at 30 June 2011. 
 
Each Warrant provides the option to subscribe for one Nexus Energy Limited share at an exercise price of $2.02. The Warrants will expire in January 
2013 in the absence of earlier termination. 
 
(c) Risk exposures 
Details of the Group's exposure to risks arising from current and non-current borrowings are set out in Note 25. 
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20. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL LIABILITES    

Non-current    

Interest rate swap contract carried at fair value through profit and loss  1,654,568 3,553,772 

Total non-current other financial liabilities  1,654,568 3,553,772 

    
(a)  Risk exposures 
Details of the Group's exposure to risks arising from foreign currency forward contracts and interest rate swap contracts are set out in Note 25. 
    

21. PROVISIONS    

Long-term    

Employee benefits  115,037 126,889 

Restoration  45,736,829 35,697,336 

Total long-term provisions  45,851,866 35,824,225 

    

    

 Long-term employee benefits 
$ 

Restoration provision 
$ 

Balance at beginning of financial year  126,889 35,697,336 

Amounts used  (11,852) - 
Increase in the discounted amount arising because of time and the effect 
of any change in discount rate  - 10,039,493 

Balance at end of financial year  115,037 45,736,829 
 
 
Provision for employee benefits 
A provision has been recognised for employee entitlements relating to long service leave. The measurement and recognition criteria relating to 
employee benefits has been included in Note 1(v). 
 
Restoration provision 
The restoration provision represents the Group’s estimated present value of costs relating to future site restoration, removal and rehabilitation activities. 
The measurement and recognition criteria relating to the restoration provision has been included in Note 1(m). The significant movement in the 
restoration provision is the result of adjusting the provision to its present value at 30 June 2011.  
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22. ISSUED CAPITAL     

Share capital     

Ordinary shares, fully paid 1,326,337,066 958,061,849 670,173,204 525,745,195 

     

Other equity securities     

Value of warrants – senior subordinated notes (unsecured)   19,305,120 19,305,120 

Deferred tax liability on transaction costs   233,394 233,394 

Transaction costs incurred in issuing equity instruments   (777,980) (777,980) 
   18,760,534 18,760,534 
   688,933,738 544,505,729 
There was no movement in other equity securities during the year. 
 
Movements in ordinary share capital 30 June 2009 to 30 June 2011 
Details  Number of Shares Issue Price $ 

30 June 2009 Closing Balance  645,350,183  450,996,351 

8 September 2009 Institutional placement   96,800,000 $0.32 30,976,000 

21 October 2009 Rights issue   197,911,666 $0.22 43,540,566 

13 November 2009 Rights issue  18,000,000 $0.22 3,960,000 

 Add: Deferred tax credit balance      

 recognised directly in equity     1,597,593 

 Less: transaction costs on share issue    (5,325,315) 

30 June 2010 Closing balance  958,061,849  525,745,195 

3 August 2010 Subordinated Notes Exchange offer(1)  30,195,455 $0.38 11,474,273 

3 November 2010 Placement  32,000,000 $0.44 14,080,000 

24 April 2011 Rights issue  142,204,941 $0.40 56,881,976 

25 May 2011 Rights issue  163,874,821 $0.40 65,549,929 

 Add: Deferred tax credit balance      

 recognised directly in equity     1,524,882 

 Less: transaction costs on share issue    (5,083,051) 

30 June 2011 Closing balance  1,326,337,066  670,173,204 
 
(1) The shares were issued as part of the Exchange Offer of the Unsecured Subordinated Notes in exchange for existing notes. No cash consideration 

was received. The issue price represents the fair value of the shares at the date of granting. 
 
The Company has authorised share capital amounting to 1,326,337,066 (2010: 958,061,849) ordinary shares of no par value. Ordinary shares 
participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in proportion to the number of shares held. At shareholders meetings, on a 
show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy is entitled to one vote, and upon a poll each share is entitled 
to one vote. 
 
Warrants 
The Company issued 31,884,058 warrants during the financial year ending 30 June 2008. The warrants expire on 15 January 2013 with an exercise 
price of $2.02.  
 
The warrant holders do not participate in dividends or any other distribution or right declared and have no voting rights. On winding up of the company 
the warrant holders have the option to convert to ordinary shares at an exercise price of $2.02 and would assume the same rights as an ordinary 
shareholder. 
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22. ISSUED CAPITAL (Continued) 
 
Capital management 
The Board of Directors controls the capital of the Group in order to maintain debt within levels specified in financial covenants and to ensure that the 
Group can fund its operations and continue as a going concern.  
 
The Group’s debt and capital includes ordinary share capital and financial liabilities which are supported by financial assets. The Group is required 
under certain borrowing covenants to maintain shareholders’ funds of at least $130,000,000 and not to exceed a project gearing ratio (defined for this 
purpose as total liabilities to total assets) of 55%. These requirements have been satisfied in 2011 and 2010. 
 
The Group’s capital is managed by maintaining adequate banking facilities, monitoring future rolling cash flows and adjusting its capital structure as 
required to meet business objectives. There have been no changes in the strategy adopted by management to control the capital of the Group since the 
prior year. The strategy is to ensure the group remains in compliance with its borrowing covenants and ensure the group can continue as a going 
concern. 

   2011 
$ 

2010 
$ 

Total Assets   964,451,563 919,360,875 

Total Liabilities   331,552,615 390,778,102 

Total Equity   632,898,948 528,582,773 

Project gearing ratio   35% 42% 
 
23. RESERVES 
 
Share based payments reserve 
The share based payment reserve is used to recognise the fair value of options and shares granted under the Executive Director and Employee Share 
Option Plan. 
 
Hedge reserve 
The hedge reserve is used to recognise the fair value of foreign exchange contracts yet to be exercised as at the end of the reporting period. Amounts 
are recognised in profit and loss when the associated hedge transaction affects the profit and loss.  
 
24. CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

 Percentage of equity and voting 
interests held 

 

Name Country of 
incorporation 

2011 
% 

2010 
% 

Date of de-
registration 

Parent entity 
Nexus Energy Limited  Australia   

 

Subsidiaries     

Nexus Energy Aust. NL Australia 100 100  

Nexus Energy VICP54 Pty Ltd Australia 100 100  

Nexus Energy Services Pty Ltd Australia 100 100  

Nexus Energy WA Pty Ltd Australia 100 100  

Nexus Energy Corporate Pty Ltd Australia 100 100  

Nexus Energy NTP66 Pty Ltd Australia 100 100  

Nexus Energy VICP56 Pty Ltd Australia 100 100  

Nexus Energy WA377P Pty Ltd Australia 100 100  

Nexus Energy NV Pty Ltd Australia 100 100  

Nexus Energy VICL29 Pty Ltd Australia 100 100  

     

Nexus IT Investments Pty Ltd Australia - 100 26 January 2011 

Nexus Energy ACP41 Pty Ltd Australia - 100 26 January 2011 

Nexus Energy (Bass Strait) Pty Ltd Australia - 100 26 January 2011 

Shelf Investment Pty Ltd Australia - 100 26 January 2011 

Nexus Energy VICP49 Pty Ltd Australia - 100 26 January 2011 

Nexus Energy WA368P Pty Ltd Australia - 100 10 February 2011 

 
Nexus Energy VICP54 Pty Ltd is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Nexus Energy Aust. NL.  
 
The subsidiaries which were de-registered during the years were dormant entities.  
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25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
The Group has exposure to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk consisting of interest rate risk and foreign currency risk. 
 
The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. The Board has established the Audit 
Committee which is responsible for developing and monitoring risk management policies. Risk management policies are established to identify the risks 
faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are 
reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group does not enter into or trade in derivative financial 
instruments for speculative purposes. The use of financial instruments and the overall risk management strategy of the Group is governed by the Board 
of Directors and is primarily focused on ensuring that the Group is able to finance its business plans. 
 
Credit risk 
Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and derivative 
instruments. Credit risk refers to the risk that a counter party will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group.  
 
To minimise credit risk, the Group trades with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Group has a single customer which is Santos for the sale of 
gas and condensate under a gas sale agreement. Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result being that the Group’s 
exposure to bad debts is not significant.  
 
Credit risk for derivative financial instruments arises from the potential failure by counter-parties to the contract to meet their obligations. The credit risk 
exposure to forward exchange contracts and interest rate swaps is the net fair value of these contracts as discussed below. 
 
Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meets its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group manages liquidity risk through the 
preparation and maintenance of rolling forecast cash flows and ensuring that adequate borrowing facilities are maintained. Emphasis is placed on 
ensuring there is sufficient funding in place to meet the ongoing requirements of the Group’s exploration and development activities.  
 
The following table illustrates the contractual maturities of the Group’s financial liabilities including interest payments: 
 
 

 Within 1 Year 1 to 5 Years Over 5 Years Total 
 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010  
         
Financial assets         
Cash and cash 
equivalents 

62,611,651 24,923,857 - - - - 62,611,651 24,923,857 

Trade and other 
receivables 

9,062,690 12,176,030 6,388,670 5,809,431 - - 15,451,360 17,985,461 

Other assets 3,031,654 618,830 25,116,258 16,882,929 - - 28,147,912 17,501,759 
Total anticipated outflows 74,705,995 37,718,717 31,504,928 22,692,360 - - 106,210,923 60,411,077 
         
Financial liabilities         
Trade and other payables 51,728,741 22,923,545 - - - - 51,728,741 22,923,545 
Interest rate swap - - - - 1,654,568 3,553,772 1,654,568 3,553,772 
Bank loans 21,526,789 28,046,004 106,472,189 169,172,314 356,443 4,060,215 128,355,421 201,278,533 
Senior subordinated notes 10,102,696 14,360,892 135,644,879 156,962,815 62,644,497 - 208,392,072 171,323,707 
         
Total anticipated outflows 83,358,226 65,330,441 242,117,068 326,135,129 64,655,508 7,613,987 390,130,802 399,079,557 
 

The above table does not include the future revenues generated from the Longtom production asset. 
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25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
Market Risk 
Interest Rate Risk 
Exposure to interest rate risk arises on financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at the end of the reporting period whereby a future change in 
interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair value of fixed rate financial instruments. The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk, which is the risk 
that a financial instrument’s value will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates, and the weighted average interest rate for classes of 
financial assets and financial liabilities, is set out below: 

 
 
 
2011 

 
Weighted 

average 
interest rate 

% 

 
Floating 
interest 

rate
$ 

  
Fixed interest 

maturing in 
1 year or less

$ 

Fixed interest 
maturing 
between 

1 and 5 years
$ 

 
 

Non-interest 
bearing 

$ 

 
 
 

Total
$ 

Financial assets       

Cash and cash equivalents 4.52 16,552,691 46,058,960 - - 62,611,651 

Trade and other receivables - - - - 15,451,360 15,451,360 

Total financial assets  16,552,691 46,058,960 - 15,451,360 78,063,011 

Financial liabilities       

Trade and other payables - - - - 51,728,741 51,728,741 

Bank loans 8.43 92,336,981 - - - 92,336,981 

Subordinated notes 17.43 119,870,238 - - - 119,870,238 

Interest rate swaps - 1,654,568 - - - 1,654,568 

Total financial liabilities  213,861,788 - - 51,728,741 265,590,528 

       
 
 
 
 
 
2010 

 
Weighted 

average 
interest rate 

% 

 
Floating 
interest 

rate
$ 

  
Fixed interest 

maturing in 
1 year or less

$ 

Fixed interest 
maturing 
between 

1 and 5 years
$ 

 
 

Non-interest 
bearing 

$ 

 
 
 

Total
$ 

Financial assets       

Cash and cash equivalents 3.06 23,616,386 1,307,471 - - 24,923,857 

Trade and other receivables  - - - 17,985,461 17,985,461 

Total financial assets  23,616,386 1,307,471 - 17,985,461 42,909,318 

Financial liabilities       

Trade and other payables  - - - 22,923,545 22,923,545 

Bank loans 7.26 160,000,000 - - - 160,000,000 

Subordinated notes 15.87 130,270,202 - - - 130,270,202 

Interest rate swaps  3,553,772 - - - 3,553,772 

Total financial liabilities  293,823,974 - - 22,923,545 316,747,519 
 
Interest Rate Swaps 
The Group had an interest rate swap in place at 30 June 2011 to provide protection against interest rate fluctuations on Longtom project finance 
borrowings. The swap is based on current notional total debt balance of $42,523,449. The swap commenced on 2 January 2009 and expires on 1 July 
2014. The notional total debt balance declines throughout the life of the instrument. The contract requires settlement of net interest receivable or 
payable quarterly based on the Group paying a fixed rate of 7.68% and receiving the floating rate. The contracts do not satisfy the requirements for 
hedge accounting and have been recognised at fair value through the profit and loss. 
 
Based on the average balance of debt during the year, if interest rates increased or decreased by 1% the effect on profit and equity as a result of 
changes in the interest rate, with all other variables remaining constant would be as follows. Note there is no effect on profit or equity for borrowings 
capitalised as part of the Group’s exploration and development activities. 
  2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 

Change in profit     

Increase interest rate by 1%  (2,122,072) (2,902,702) 

Decrease interest rate by 1 %  2,122,072 2,902,702 

Change in equity    

Increase interest rate by 1%  (2,122,072) (2,902,702) 

Decrease interest rate by 1 %  2,122,072 2,902,702 
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25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
Foreign exchange risk 
The Group is exposed to fluctuations in foreign currencies arising from the purchase of goods and services in currencies other than Australian dollars. 
The main foreign currency exposure is to United States dollars. The Group manages foreign exchange risk by monitoring forecast cash flows in 
currencies other than Australian dollars and maintaining certain cash balances in United States dollars. 
 
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis 
The Group is mainly exposed to US dollars. The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase or decrease in the Australian dollar 
against the US dollar. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at 
the end of the reporting period for a 10% change in the exchange rate.  
   
  2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 

Change in profit    

- Improvement in AUD to USD by 10%  18,070 109,697 

- Decline in AUD to USD by 10%  (18,070) (109,697) 

Change in equity    

- Improvement in AUD to USD by 10%  18,070 109,697 

- Decline in AUD to USD by 10%  (18,070) (109,697) 
 
Fair Value Estimation 
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are presented in the following table and can be compared to their carrying values as presented 
in the statement of financial position.   
 
Fair values derived may be based on information that is estimated or subject to judgment, where changes in assumptions may have a material impact 
on the amounts estimated.  Areas of judgment and the assumptions have been detailed below.  Where possible, valuation information used to calculate 
fair value is extracted from the market, with more reliable information available from markets that are actively traded.  Where securities are unlisted and 
no market quotes are available, fair value is obtained using discounted cash flow analysis and other valuation techniques commonly used by market 
participants. 
 
Differences between fair values and carrying values of financial instruments with fixed interest rates are due to the change in discount rates being 
applied by the market since their initial recognition by the Group. Most of these instruments which are carried at amortised cost (ie term receivables, 
held-to-maturity assets, loan liabilities) are to be held until maturity and therefore the net fair value figures calculated bear little relevance to the Group. 
 
  2011 2010 
 Note Net Carrying Value Net Fair Value Net Carrying Value Net Fair Value 
Financial assets      
Cash and cash equivalents (i) 62,611,651 62,611,651 24,923,857 24,923,857 
Trade and other receivables (i) 15,451,360 15,160,693 17,985,461 17,470,204 
      
Total financial assets  78,063,011 77,772,344 42,909,318 42,394,061 
      
Financial liabilities      
Trade and other payables (i) 51,728,741 51,728,741 22,923,545 22,923,545 
Borrowings      

Bank loans (ii) 92,336,981 109,142,810 160,000,000 175,800,179 
Senior subordinated notes (iii) 119,870,238 117,195,377 130,270,202 150,384,085 

      
Total financial liabilities  263,935,960 278,066,928 313,193,747 349,107,809 
 
(i) Cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables are short term instruments in nature whose carrying value 

is equivalent to fair value. Trade and other payables exclude amounts provided for annual leave, which is outside the scope of AASB 139. 
 

(ii) Fair value models are determined using a discounted cash flow model incorporating current commercial borrowing rates. As disclosed in Note 19 
the Company restructured its existing Longtom senior debt facility repaying $70 million of the $160 million principal outstanding on the original 
facility from funds raised through an accelerated renounceable entitlement offer completed in May 2011. A fixed and sculpted repayment profile 
for the remaining $90 million was agreed under the terms of the facility restructure with scheduled principal repayments commencing in 
September 2011 and maturing in June 2016 unless repaid earlier. The net fair value for the 2010 comparative is based on the loan agreement in 
place at 30 June 2010 and does not reflect the revised terms under the restructured senior debt facility. 

 
(iii) Fair value models are determined using a discounted cash flow model incorporating current commercial borrowing rates. As disclosed in Note 19, 

on 3 August 2010 the Company completed the Exchange Offer with acceptance by 86.27% of its $110 million Unsecured Senior Subordinated 
Notes due 2013 (“Existing Notes”) for New Unsecured Senior Subordinated Notes (“New Notes”). The net fair value for the 2010 comparative 
reflects the Unsecured Senior Subordinated Notes in place at that end of the 2010 financial year and does not include the impact of the exchange 
offer completed in August 2010. 
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25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
Financial Instruments Measured at Fair Value 
The financial instruments recognised at fair value in the statement of financial position have been analysed and classified using a fair value hierarchy 
reflecting the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy consists of the following levels: 
• Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1); 
• Inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from 

prices) (Level 2); and 
• Inputs for the asset and liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (Level 3). 
 
 
2011   Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Financial Assets       

Prepayments    28,147,912  28,147,912 

Financial Liabilities       
Financial liabilities at fair value 
through the profit or loss:       

- Financial liabilities – Interest rate swap  - 1,654,568 - 1,654,568 

- Borrowings – senior subordinated notes  - 119,870,238 - 119,870,238 

   - 149,672,718 - 149,672,718 
 
 
2010   Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Financial Assets       

Prepayments    17,501,759  17,501,759 

Financial Liabilities       
Financial liabilities at fair value 
through the profit or loss:       

- Financial liabilities – Interest rate swap  - 3,553,772 - 3,553,772 

- Borrowings – senior subordinated notes  - 130,270,202 - 130,270,202 

   - 151,325,733 - 151,325,733 
 
Included in level 2 are the fair value of the interest rate swap contracts and the senior subordinated notes in place at 30 June 2010 and 30 June 2011. 
 
26. JOINT OPERATIONS 
The Group has an interest in the following joint operations as at 30 June 2011: 
 

Petroleum exploration 
permit/licence 

Unincorporated 
interest 
2011 
% 

2010 
% Principal activities 

Operator of joint venture 
operation 

WA-368-P 0 (1) 50 Oil and gas exploration Nexus Energy Services Pty Ltd 

AC/L9 85 85 Oil and gas exploration Nexus Energy WA Pty Ltd 

 
(1) The exploration permit for WA-368-P was cancelled by the government Joint Authority on 21 March 2011. Nexus will now proceed to negotiate a 
“Good Standing Agreement” with the government authority. 
 
The following amounts represent the Group’s share of assets employed in joint venture operations. The amounts are included in the statement of 
financial position, in accordance with the accounting policy described in Note 1(q), under the following classifications: 
 
  2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 

Cash and cash equivalents  135 9,420 

Receivables  6,419,095 6,086,854 

Inventories  2,736,603 2,044,117 

Total current assets   9,155,833 8,140,391 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure carried forward  162,350,522 159,133,985 

Total non-current assets  162,350,522 159,113,985 

Share of assets employed in joint venture operations  171,506,355 167,274,376 
 
Contingent liabilities in respect of joint venture operations are detailed in Note 34. Exploration expenditure commitments and capital commitments in 
respect of joint venture operations are detailed in Note 27.  
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$ 
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$ 

27. COMMITMENTS    

(a)  Capital expenditure commitments    
Contracts for capital expenditure in relation to assets which are not 
provided for in the financial statements:    

(i) Drilling and Completions    

Not later than 1 year  - - 

Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years  - 8,917,048 

  - 8,917,048 

(ii) Development Project    

Not later than 1 year  11,172,645 2,821,874 

Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years  - 34,154,688 

  11,172,645 36,976,562 

Total capital expenditure commitments  11,172,645 45,893,610 
The above commitments include exploration and development expenditure 
commitments relating to joint venture operations:    

Not later than 1 year  - 1,173,296 

Later than one year but not later than 5 years  - 34,154,688 

Total joint venture operation development expenditure commitments  - 35,327,984 
 
(b) Operating lease rental commitments    

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals not provided for in the financial 
statements and payable:    

Not later than 1 year  1,733,562 1,296,416 

Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years  7,349,509 6,859,079 

Later than 5 years  5,376,541 3,904,892 

Total operating lease rental commitments  14,459,612 12,060,387 

The Company has a 5-year lease on software that expires October 2011. 
Fees are paid annually in advance. 

   

The Company has a photocopier lease with a primary 5-year term that 
expires during August 2013. Lease payments are made monthly in 
advance. 

The Company has an office lease for Level 8 Freshwater Place Southbank 
with a 10-year term that expires in January 2019. Rent is payable monthly 
in advance. 

 

   

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals not provided for in the financial 
statements and receivable:    

Not later than 1 year  812,636 196,109 

Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years  5,085,573 858,168 

Later than 5 years  3,248,250 - 

Total operating lease rental commitments  9,146,459 1,054,277 
The company has sub-let level 9 Freshwater Place Southbank to a third 
party on a 5 year term that commenced in March 2010.    
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27. COMMITMENTS (Continued)    

(c)  Exploration expenditure commitments    

Exploration expenditure commitments are estimates for work commitments 
pursuant to the award of petroleum exploration permits VIC/P54 and 
WA-377-P. (2010: WA-368-P, VIC/P54, WA-377-P and WA-424-P) 

   

Not later than 1 year  1,052,000 17,475,000 

Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years  750,000 200,000 

Later than 5 years  - - 

Total exploration expenditure commitments  1,802,000 17,675,000 

    

The above commitments include exploration expenditure commitments 
relating to joint venture operations:    

Not later than 1 year  - 2,600,000 

Not later than 1 year but not later than 5 years  - - 

Later than 5 years  - - 

Total joint venture operation exploration expenditure commitments  - 2,600,000 
 
Estimates for future exploration expenditure commitments are based on 
estimated well and seismic costs which will change as actual drilling 
locations and seismic surveys are organised and are determined in current 
dollars on an undiscounted basis. 
 
Where exploration expenditure included in this category relates to an 
existing contract for expenditure as at 30 June 2011, the amount will be 
included in both categories (a) and (c) above. 
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$ 

28. NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENTS    

(a)  Reconciliation of Profit / (Loss) after income tax to cash flow from 
 operations    

Profit / (loss) after income tax  (39,202,356) 1,031,157 

    

Add / (subtract) non-cash items    

Depreciation of plant and equipment and amortisation of computer 
software  167,051 747,925 

Amortisation of Longtom production asset  38,571,369 16,956,580 

Inventory write-down  4,065,931 1,702,118 

Loss on sale of inventory  368,673 1,619,002 

Share based payments expensed  (909,478) 965,645 

Net unrealised foreign currency losses (gains)  83,829 506,905 

Gain on extinguishment of financial liabilities  (14,609,199) - 

Impairment of production asset  81,772,347 - 

Deferred tax on equity raising costs included in income tax expense  1,524,882 1,597,593 

Finance lease and interest expense repayments  18,020,487 19,363,334 

    

Items classified as investing / financing activities:    

(Gain) / loss on disposal of plant and equipment  (9,361) (469) 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure expensed  8,443,993 7,590,855 

Net foreign currency losses (gains)  62,865 (550,208) 

    

Change in operating assets and liabilities:    

(Increase) / decrease in assets    

Trade and other receivables – current  2,997,116 (10,646,754) 

Other assets – current  (2,469,304) (456,431) 

Other financial assets – non-current  - 58,137 

Deferred tax asset  (88,268,274) (52,592,625) 

Other assets – non current  (8,233,329) (16,882,929) 

    

Increase / (decrease) in liabilities    

Trade and other payables – current  108,938 6,064,015 

Trade and other payables – non current  (3,503,023) 11,562,063 

Financial liabilities – non current  (1,899,204) (3,384,922) 

Long-term provisions  10,027,641 (10,539,435) 

Deferred tax liability  (18,096,137) (774,492) 

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities  (10,984,543) (26,062,936) 
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29. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS 
Executive Director and Employee Share Option Plan 
The Company has an Executive Director and Employee Share Option Plan (“ESOP”) which was approved by shareholders in September 2008. Options 
expire not more than five years after they are granted and the exercise price of options, issued during the financial year, is determined by the Directors. 
If there is a change of control of the Company, all unexercised options will become immediately exercisable. Options granted under the ESOP carry no 
dividend or voting rights. When exercisable, each option is convertible into one ordinary share of the Company.  
 
Vesting of the options issued in the 2011 financial year will be subject to a performance test. A proportion (between nil and 100%) of the options (as 
determined by the performance test), will vest at the end of the vesting period expiring on 30 June 2013 (the vesting date) with the Board having the 
discretion to vary the vesting conditions in certain circumstances. The options will be exercisable in the 12 month period commencing on the vesting 
date. The performance test for the performance rights issued to the executives will be measured by the Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”) of Nexus 
ordinary shares relative to the TSR of a comparative group of other oil and gas companies and the ASX Energy Index over the vesting period. Vesting of 
the options issued will be as follows: Top quartile ranking is required for all options to vest while no options would vest if Nexus ranks in the third or 
fourth quartile of TSR rankings at the end of the vesting period, 50% of the options will vest at the 50th percentile with proportionate vesting to the 75th 
percentile. 
 
The following reconciles the outstanding share options granted under the ESOP at the beginning and end of the financial year: 
 

 2011 2010 

 Number 
Weighted average 

exercise price 
$ 

Number 
Weighted average 

exercise price 
$ 

Balance at beginning of financial year 7,052,300 0.74 8,461,600 0.67 

Granted during the financial year 4,109,400 0.00 - - 

Exercised during the financial year - - - - 

Forfeited during the financial year - - - - 

Expired during the financial year (6,742,407) 0.00 (1,409,300) 0.00 

Balance at end of financial year 4,419,293 0.00 7,052,300 0.74 

Exercisable at end of financial year 532,493 0.00 - - 
 
The Executive Director and Employee Share Option Plan options outstanding as at 30 June 2011 had a weighted average exercise price of nil (2010: 
$0.74) with a weighted average remaining contractual life of 1,063 days (2010: 761 days). Details of ESOP options outstanding at the end of the 
financial year: 
 
Grant date Expiry and exercise date Exercise price  Number 
9 January 2009 30 June 2012 Zero  532,493 

7 July 2010 30 June 2013 Zero  2,250,000 

4 August 2010 30 June 2013 Zero  860,200 

6 December 2010 30 June 2013 Zero  776,600 

    4,419,293 

     
Fair value of options 
During the 2011 financial year 4,109,400 unlisted employee options were issued, pursuant to the Nexus Energy Limited Executive Director and 
Employee Option Plan, with a zero exercise price and vesting date of 30 June 2013. Also during the 2011 financial year a total of 6,742,407 options 
expired as a result of employee resignations. At 30 June 2011 a total of $909,478 was credited to the statement of comprehensive income (2010: 
$707,895 expensed). 
 
The weighted average fair value of the Executive Director and ESOP options granted during the 2011 financial year was $0.30. The fair value of each 
option granted during the 2011 financial year was estimated on grant date using the binomial option pricing model. The binomial option pricing model 
takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the vesting and performance criteria, the impact of dilution, the non-tradeable nature of the 
option, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate for 
the term of the option. The Company has applied the following assumptions and inputs: 
 
Weighted average exercise price  Zero (2010: $0.74) 
Weighted average life of options  1,063 days (2010: 761 days) 
Weighted average share price   $0.30 (2010: $0.46) 
Expected share price volatility   70% (2010: 70%) 
Risk-free interest rate   5.4% (2010: 5.1%) 
 
Historical volatility has been the basis for determining expected share price volatility as it is assumed that this is indicative of future trends, which may 
not eventuate. 
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30. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 
Directors and key management personnel 
Remuneration disclosures required by AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures are disclosed in the Remuneration Report section of the Directors Report. 
These disclosures have been audited. 
 
Subsidiaries 
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in Note 24. The ultimate parent entity Nexus Energy Limited exercises control over the subsidiaries in the Group.  
 
Other related parties 
On 10 November 2009, an agreement for consultancy services was executed with Ian Boserio Oil & Gas Consultants which is a Director related entity of 
Ian Boserio. The value of transactions during the 2011 financial year was $126,180 (2010: $129,192). These transactions were made on normal 
commercial terms and conditions and at market rates. 
 
On 5 January 2010, an agreement for consultancy services was executed with Palmer Investments which is a Director related entity of Steven Lowden. 
During the period a total of $187,500 in consultancy fees were paid to Palmer Investments (2010: $120,000). In addition to the consultancy fees a total 
of $55,646 was paid for reimbursement of expenses. These transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates. 
 
During the financial year $63,000 in consulting fees were paid to Mayburys Pty Ltd which is a Director related entity of Michael Arnett. In addition to the 
consultancy fees a total of $1,286 was paid for reimbursement of expenses. These transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions 
and at market rates. 
 
During the financial year $73,500 in consulting fees were paid to Ridge End Capital Ltd which is a Director related entity of Symon Drake-Brockman. 
These transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates. 
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31. SEGMENT REPORTING 
Identification of reportable segments 
The Group has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the Board of Directors (chief operating 
decision makers) in assessing performance and determining the allocation of resources. The operating segments identified by management are based 
on assets in production, development and exploration. 
 
Types of products and services by segment 
(a) Production 

The production segment relates to the sale of gas and condensate. At 30 June 2011, the Longtom asset is reported in this segment which has a 
sale agreement with Santos for the sale of gas and condensate.  

 
(b) Development 

The development segment holds assets which have confirmed resources and are currently in development phase. At 30 June 2011, the Crux asset 
is reported in this segment. 

 
(c) Exploration 

The exploration segment holds assets which are currently in exploration and evaluation phase. All remaining assets and permits are reported in this 
segment. 

 
Basis of accounting for purposes of reporting by operating segments 
 
Accounting policies adopted 
Unless stated otherwise, all amounts reported to the Board of Directors as the chief decision maker with respect to operating segments are determined 
in accordance with accounting policies that are consistent to those adopted in the annual financial statements of the Group. 
 
Inter-segment transactions 
An internally determined transfer price is set for all inter-entity sales. This price is re-set quarterly and is based on what would be realised in the event 
the sale was made to an external party at arm’s length. All such transactions are eliminated on consolidation for the Group’s financial statements. 
 
Corporate charges are allocated to reporting segments based on the segments’ activity within the Group. The Board of Directors believes this is 
representative of likely consumption of head office expenditure that should be used in assessing segment performance and cost recoveries.  
 
Inter-segment loans payable and receivable are initially recognised at the consideration received net of transaction costs. If inter-segment loans 
receivable and payable are not on commercial terms, these are not adjusted to fair value based on market interest rates. This policy represents a 
departure from that applied to the statutory financial statements. 
 
Segment assets 
Where an asset is used across multiple segments, the asset is allocated to the segment that receives the majority of economic value from the asset. In 
the majority of instances, segment assets are clearly identifiable on the basis of their nature and physical location. 
 
Segment liabilities 
Liabilities are allocated to segments where there is direct nexus between the incurrence of the liability and the operations of the segment. Borrowings 
(with the exception of asset specific project financing) and tax liabilities are generally considered to relate to the Group as a whole and are not allocated. 
Segment liabilities include trade and other payables and certain direct borrowings. 
 
Unallocated items 
The following items of revenue, expense, assets and liabilities are not allocated to operating segments as they are not considered part of the core 
operations of any segment: 
• derivatives; 
• net gains / (losses) on disposal of available-for-sale investments; 
• impairment of assets and other non-recurring items of revenue or expense; 
• income tax expense; 
• deferred tax assets and liabilities; 
• current tax liabilities; 
• other financial liabilities; 
• intangible assets; 
• general and administration expenditure; 
• net foreign currency gains / (losses); 
• share issues and related expenses; and 
• retirement benefit obligations. 
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31. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 
Segment Performance 
 
Year Ended 
30 June 2011 

Production 
$ 

Development 
$ 

Exploration 
$ 

Other 
$ 

Total 
$ 

Revenue      
Sale of gas and condensate 66,607,811 - - - 66,607,811 
Total segment revenue 66,607,811 - - - 66,607,811 
      
Reconciliation of segment revenue to group revenue      
Total group revenue 66,607,811 899,066 48,777 - 67,555,654 
      
Segment net profit / (loss) before tax (1,842,890) 533,693 (8,398,516) - (9,707,713) 
      
Reconciliation of segment result to group net profit / 
(loss) before tax      

Amounts not included in segment result but reviewed 
by the Board:      

• Depreciation and amortisation - - - (167,051) (167,051) 
• Inventory write downs (3,413,764) (623,803) (28,364) - (4,065,931) 
• Finance costs (20,075,093) - - (17,678,583) (37,753,676) 
• Restoration provision benefits (8,523,766) (1,515,727) - - (10,039,493) 
• Mark-to-market adjustment on derivative financial 

instruments 1,899,204 - - - 1,899,202 

• Gain on extinguishment of financial liabilities - - - 14,609,199 14,609,199 
• Impairment of production asset (81,772,347) - - - (81,772,347) 
Unallocated items:      
• Interest and other revenue     1,445,724 
• Employee benefits expense     (7,096,286) 
• Foreign exchange movements     (274,887) 
• Other     (11,118,626) 
      
Net profit / (loss) before tax     (144,041,885) 
      
Segment Performance 
 
Year Ended 
30 June 2010 

 
Production 

$ 

 
Development 

$ 

 
Exploration 

$ 

 
Other 

$ 

 
Total 

$ 
Revenue      
Sale of gas and condensate 28,551,872 - - - 28,551,872 
Total segment revenue 28,551,872 - - - 28,551,872 
      
Reconciliation of segment revenue to group revenue      
Total group revenue 28,551,872 - - - 28,551,872 
      
Segment net profit / (loss) before tax (2,929,511) (1,539,912) (7,162,402) - (11,631,825) 
      
Reconciliation of segment result to group net profit / 
(loss) before tax      

Amounts not included in segment result but reviewed 
by the Board:      

• Depreciation and amortisation - - - (747,925) (747,925) 
• Inventory write downs - (1,698,267) (3,851) - (1,702,118) 
• Finance costs (12,886,351) - - (20,337,196) (33,223,547) 
• Restoration provision benefits 9,097,848 1,443,776 - - 10,541,624 
• Mark-to-market adjustment on derivative financial 

instruments 3,384,922 - - - 3,384,922 

Unallocated items:      
• Interest and other revenue     1,350,315 
• Employee benefits expense     (12,644,313) 
• Foreign exchange movements     262,570 
• Other     (6,328,070) 
      
Net profit / (loss) before tax     (50,738,367) 
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31. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 
Segment Assets 
 
Year Ended 
30 June 2011 

Production 
$ 

Development 
$ 

Exploration 
$ 

Total 
$ 

Segment assets 368,748,415 319,401,794 10,131,077 698,281,286 
Segment assets increased for the period:     
• Capitalised costs 4,882,414 37,366,387 1,763,621 44,012,422 
     
Reconciliation of segment assets to group assets     
     
Unallocated items:     
• Other assets    63,829,543 
• Deferred tax assets    202,336,211 
• Intangibles    4,523 
     
Total group assets     964,451,563 
 
Segment Assets 
 
Year Ended 
30 June 2010 

Production 
$ 

Development 
$ 

Exploration 
$ 

Total 
$ 

Segment assets 476,420,569 285,521,360 17,461,341 779,403,270 
Segment assets increased for the period:     
• Capitalised costs 68,124,646 6,083,949 2,631,836 76,840,431 
     
Reconciliation of segment assets to group assets     
     
Unallocated items:     
• Other assets    25,731,392 
• Deferred tax assets    114,067,937 
• Intangibles    158,276 
     
Total group assets     919,360,875 
 
Segment Liabilities 
 
Year Ended 
30 June 2011 

Production 
$ 

Development 
$ 

Exploration 
$ 

Total 
$ 

Segment Liabilities 143,618,295 43,200,468 1,650 186,820,413 
Reconciliation of segment liabilities to group assets:     
     
Unallocated items:     
• Deferred tax liability    20,110,221 
• Other liabilities    124,621,981 
     
Total group liabilities     331,552,615 
 
Segment Liabilities 
 
Year Ended 
30 June 2010 

Production 
$ 

Development 
$ 

Exploration 
$ 

Total 
$ 

Segment Liabilities 211,433,105 9,803,164 7,664 221,243,933 
Reconciliation of segment liabilities to group assets:     
     
Unallocated items:     
• Deferred tax liability    38,206,358 
• Other liabilities    131,327,811 
     
Total group liabilities     390,778,102 
 
Major Customers 
The Group supplies gas and condensate to a single supplier in the production segment which accounts for 100% of the Groups external revenue 
$66,607,811 (2010: $28,551,872). The Group has a gas sale agreement with Santos for the supply of gas and condensate. 
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$ 

32. AUDITORS REMUNERATION    

Remuneration of the auditor of the Group for:    

Auditing or reviewing the financial report  220,000 182,050 

Other services  26,300 5,010 

Total auditors’ remuneration  246,300 187,060 
 
 
33. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS  
Since the end of the financial year the following events have occurred: 
 
Director and Executive Appointments 
Michael Fowler ceased the role as Executive Chairman and was appointed to the Board as a Non-Executive Chairman on 2 July 2011. On 1 July 2011 
Mike Maloney was appointed Chief Operating Officer, he previously held the position of Crux Asset Manager & GM Operations, Engineering & 
Commercial. 
 
Appointment of McDermott for Crux Liquids Project 
In July, following the completion of the engineering and strategy review a contract was executed with McDermott Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd to provide project 
development engineering services for the Crux liquids project.  
 
Issue of Performance Rights 
In August 2011, 2,413,100 performance rights were issued to employees. 
 
Issue of shares 
In August 360,754 shares were issued upon satisfaction of vesting conditions relating to options granted on 9 January 2009. 
 
Sedco Forex International 
On 6 July Sedco Forex International Inc (Sedco) issued Federal Court proceedings against Nexus Energy Limited (Nexus), and its wholly owned 
subsidiary, Nexus Energy WA Pty Ltd (NEWA). Refer to Note 34 for further details. 
 
Financial Report 
The financial report was authorised for issue on 31 August 2011. 
 
 
34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS 
Contingent liabilities 
The Group had contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2011 that may become payable in respect of: 
 
Letter of credit provided by subsidiaries 
The subsidiaries Nexus Energy Aust. NL and Nexus Energy VICP54 Pty Ltd have entered into an agreement to supply raw gas to Santos Offshore Pty 
Ltd (Santos). As security for the supply of raw gas, Santos has access to a letter of credit capped at $60,000,000 (2010: $60,000,000). The letter of 
credit has been provided on behalf of the Group by BOS International (Australia) Limited. Should the subsidiaries not meet there obligations under the 
agreement to supply raw gas, Santos may at this time have access to draw on the letter of credit. The letter of credit amortises on agreed formula once 
cumulative production from the Longtom facility exceeds 82.5PJ down to a nil balance after 150PJ has been produced. Under the new facility terms 
Nexus is required to provide incremental cash cover for the security on a quarterly basis starting in July 2014. Cash backing for the security continues to 
a maximum of $16,000,000 after which it is reduced on formula as a result of production amortisation. 
 
Joint venture arrangements 
In accordance with normal oil and gas industry practice, the Group has entered into joint venture operations with other parties for the purpose of 
exploring and developing its permit interests. If a participant to a joint venture operation defaults and does not contribute its share of joint venture 
operation obligations, then the other joint venturers are liable to meet those obligations. In this event, the interest in the permit held by the defaulting 
participant may be redistributed to the remaining joint venturers. At the date of this report no participant in joint venture operations had defaulted. 
 
Bank Guarantee 
Nexus Energy Limited as parent entity has provided a bank guarantee of $577,656 to Australand in relation to the leased offices at Level 8 Freshwater 
Place Southbank. A bank guarantee of $281,188 is also in place for the leased offices at Level 23 530 Collins Street. These bank guarantees will be in 
place for the term of the leases. 
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34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS (Continued) 
 
Litigation 
T-D Joint Venture 
In 2007, Nexus entered into an offshore installation contract with T-D Joint Venture Pty Ltd ("TDJV") in relation to the Longtom Gas Project. TDJV was 
placed into liquidation in December 2009. TDJV’s liquidators and Nexus Energy Corporate Pty Ltd have communicated about good faith settlement 
negotiations to resolve both parties’ claims. In March 2011, the Federal Court proceeding issued by Trident Australasia Pty Ltd (Trident), who formed 
part of the TDJV contractor consortium, was settled except for project management costs totalling $1,271,414 which the parties agreed to resolve by 
way of arbitration, scheduled to occur in late 2011. 
 
Sedco Forex International 
On 6 July 2011, Sedco Forex International Inc (Sedco) issued Federal Court proceedings against Nexus Energy Limited (Nexus), and its wholly owned 
subsidiary, Nexus Energy WA Pty Ltd (NEWA). Sedco seeks damages against NEWA based on an alleged breach and repudiation of a contract relating 
to the charter of the Transocean Legend drilling rig and has lodged a claim for the amount of $67,173,680. Sedco also claims against Nexus and NEWA 
based on alleged misleading and deceptive conduct.  Nexus and NEWA strenuously deny the claims by Sedco. The information currently available 
indicates that Sedco was not itself able to perform the contract and was not therefore entitled to terminate it. Prior to termination, Nexus expressed 
concerns about the Transocean Legend’s maintenance and safety. Nexus and NEWA consider that Sedco unlawfully terminated the contract so it could 
use the Transocean Legend to fulfil another contract. Nexus and NEWA will be vigorously defending Sedco's claim. 
 
35. COMPANY DETAILS 
Nexus Energy Limited is a publicly listed company limited by shares and is listed in Australia on the ASX. It is incorporated and domiciled in Australia. 
The registered office of Nexus Energy Limited and the principal place of business is Level 23, 530 Collins Street, Melbourne, Victoria 3000. 
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36.  NEW ACCOUTING STANDARD FOR APPLICATION IN FUTURE PERIODS 
The AASB has issued new and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have mandatory application dates for future reporting periods 
and which the Group has decided not to early adopt. A discussion of those future requirements and their impact on the Group is as follows: 
 
• AASB 9: Financial Instruments (December 2010) (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013). 

This Standard is applicable retrospectively and includes revised requirements for the classification and measurement of financial instruments, as 
well as recognition and derecognition requirements for financial instruments. The Group has not yet determined any potential impact on the 
financial statements. 

 
The key changes made to accounting requirements include: 
‐ simplifying the classifications of financial assets into those carried at amortised cost and those carried at fair value; 
‐ simplifying the requirements for embedded derivatives; 
‐ removing the tainting rules associated with held-to-maturity assets; 
‐ removing the requirements to separate and fair value embedded derivatives for financial assets carried at amortised cost; 
‐ allowing an irrevocable election on initial recognition to present gains and losses on investments in equity instruments that are not held for 

trading in other comprehensive income. Dividends in respect of these investments that are a return on investment can be recognised in profit 
or loss and there is no impairment or recycling on disposal of the instrument; 

‐ requiring financial assets to be reclassified where there is a change in an entity’s business model as they are initially classified based on: (a) 
the objective of the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets; and (b) the characteristics of the contractual cash flows; and 

‐ requiring an entity that chooses to measure a financial liability at fair value to present the portion of the change in its fair value due to 
changes in the entity’s own credit risk in other comprehensive income, except when that would create an accounting mismatch. If such a 
mismatch would be created or enlarged, the entity is required to present all changes in fair value (including the effects of changes in the 
credit risk of the liability) in profit or loss. 

 
• AASB 124: Related Party Disclosures (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2011). 

This Standard removes the requirement for government-related entities to disclose details of all transactions with the government and other 
government-related entities and clarifies the definition of a “related party” to remove inconsistencies and simplify the structure of the Standard. No 
changes are expected to materially affect the Group. 

 
• AASB 1053: Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards and AASB 2010–2:  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 

from Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 8, 101, 102, 107, 108, 110, 111, 112, 116, 117, 119, 121, 123, 124, 127, 128, 131, 
133, 134, 136, 137, 138, 140, 141, 1050 & 1052 and Interpretations 2, 4, 5, 15, 17, 127, 129 & 1052] (applicable for annual reporting periods 
commencing on or after 1 July 2013). 
 
AASB 1053 establishes a revised differential financial reporting framework consisting of two tiers of financial reporting requirements for those 
entities preparing general purpose financial statements: 
‐ Tier 1: Australian Accounting Standards; and 
‐ Tier 2: Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements. 

 
Tier 2 of the framework comprises the recognition, measurement and presentation requirements of Tier 1, but contains significantly fewer disclosure 
requirements. 
The following entities are required to apply Tier 1 reporting requirements (ie full IFRS): 

‐ for-profit private sector entities that have public accountability; and 
‐ the Australian Government and state, territory and local governments. 

 
Since the Group is a for-profit private sector entity that has public accountability, it does not qualify for the reduced disclosure requirements for Tier 2 
entities. 
 
AASB 2010–2 makes amendments to Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations to give effect to the reduced disclosure requirements for Tier 
2 entities.  It achieves this by specifying the disclosure paragraphs that a Tier 2 entity need not comply with as well as adding specific “RDR” 
disclosures. 
 
• AASB 2009–12: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASBs 5, 8, 108, 110, 112, 119, 133, 137, 139, 1023 & 1031 and 

Interpretations 2, 4, 16, 1039 & 1052] (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2011). 
 
This Standard makes a number of editorial amendments to a range of Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, including amendments 
to reflect changes made to the text of IFRSs by the IASB. The Standard also amends AASB 8 to require entities to exercise judgment in assessing 
whether a government and entities known to be under the control of that government are considered a single customer for the purposes of certain 
operating segment disclosures. The amendments are not expected to impact the Group. 

 
• AASB 2009–14: Amendments to Australian Interpretation – Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement [AASB Interpretation 14] (applicable 

for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2011). 
 
This Standard amends Interpretation 14 to address unintended consequences that can arise from the previous accounting requirements when an 
entity prepays future contributions into a defined benefit pension plan. 
 
This Standard is not expected to impact the Group. 
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36.  NEW ACCOUTING STANDARD FOR APPLICATION IN FUTURE PERIODS 
 
• AASB 2010–4:  Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project [AASB 1, AASB 7, AASB 

101 & AASB 134 and Interpretation 13] (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2011). 
 
This Standard details numerous non-urgent but necessary changes to Accounting Standards arising from the IASB’s annual improvements project. 
Key changes include: 
‐ clarifying the application of AASB 108 prior to an entity’s first Australian-Accounting-Standards financial statements; 
‐ adding an explicit statement to AASB 7 that qualitative disclosures should be made in the context of the quantitative disclosures to better 

enable users to evaluate an entity’s exposure to risks arising from financial instruments; 
‐ amending AASB 101 to the effect that disaggregation of changes in each component of equity arising from transactions recognised in other 

comprehensive income is required to be presented, but is permitted to be presented in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes; 
‐ adding a number of examples to the list of events or transactions that require disclosure under AASB 134; and 
‐ making sundry editorial amendments to various Standards and Interpretations. 
 
This Standard is not expected to impact the Group. 

 
• AASB 2010–5: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 101, 107, 112, 118, 119, 121, 132, 133, 134, 137, 139, 140, 

1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 112, 115, 127, 132 & 1042] (applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011). 
 

This Standard makes numerous editorial amendments to a range of Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, including amendments to 
reflect changes made to the text of IFRSs by the IASB. However, these editorial amendments have no major impact on the requirements of the 
respective amended pronouncements. 

 
• AASB 2010–6: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures on Transfers of Financial Assets [AASB 1 & AASB 7] (applicable for 

annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011). 
 
This Standard adds and amends disclosure requirements about transfers of financial assets, especially those in respect of the nature of the 
financial assets involved and the risks associated with them. Accordingly, this Standard makes amendments to AASB 1: First-time Adoption of 
Australian Accounting Standards, and AASB 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures, establishing additional disclosure requirements in relation to 
transfers of financial assets. 
 
This Standard is not expected to impact the Group. 
 

• AASB 2010–7: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 
118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127] (applies to periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2013). 
 
This Standard makes amendments to a range of Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a consequence of the issuance of AASB 
9: Financial Instruments in December 2010. Accordingly, these amendments will only apply when the entity adopts AASB 9. 
 
As noted above, the Group has not yet determined any potential impact on the financial statements from adopting AASB 9. 
 

• AASB 2010–8: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets [AASB 112] (applies to periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2012). 
 
This Standard makes amendments to AASB 112: Income Taxes. 
 
The amendments brought in by this Standard introduce a more practical approach for measuring deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets 
when investment property is measured using the fair value model under AASB 140: Investment Property. 
 
Under the current AASB 112, the measurement of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets depends on whether an entity expects to recover 
an asset by using it or by selling it. The amendments introduce a presumption that an investment property is recovered entirely through sale. This 
presumption is rebutted if the investment property is held within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic 
benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather than through sale. 
 
The amendments brought in by this Standard also incorporate Interpretation 121 into AASB 112. 
 
The amendments are not expected to impact the Group. 
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36.  NEW ACCOUTING STANDARD FOR APPLICATION IN FUTURE PERIODS 
 

• AASB 2010–9: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters 
[AASB 1] (applies to periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011). 
 
This Standard makes amendments to AASB 1: First-time Adoption of Australian Accounting Standards. 
 
The amendments brought in by this Standard provide relief for first-time adopters of Australian Accounting Standards from having to reconstruct 
transactions that occurred before their date of transition to Australian Accounting Standards. 
 
Furthermore, the amendments brought in by this Standard also provide guidance for entities emerging from severe hyperinflation either to resume 
presenting Australian-Accounting-Standards financial statements or to present Australian-Accounting-Standards financial statements for the first 
time. 
 
This Standard is not expected to impact the Group. 

• AASB 2010–10: Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Removal of Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters [AASB 2009–11 & 
AASB 2010–7] (applies to periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013). 
 
This Standard makes amendments to AASB 2009–11: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9, and AASB 2010–7: 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010).  
 
The amendments brought in by this Standard ultimately affect AASB 1: First-time Adoption of Australian Accounting Standards and provide relief 
for first-time adopters from having to reconstruct transactions that occurred before their transition date.  
 
[The amendments to AASB 2009–11 will only affect early adopters of AASB 2009–11 (and AASB 9: Financial Instruments that was issued in 
December 2009) as it has been superseded by AASB 2010–7.] 
 
This Standard is not expected to impact the Group. 
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The Directors of the Company declare that: 
 
1. The financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 20 to 58, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and: 
 
 (a) comply with Accounting Standards, which as stated in accounting policy Note 1 to the financial statements constitutes explicit and unreserved 

compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS); and  
 
 (b) give a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2011 and of the performance for the financial year ended on that date; 
 
2. The Chairman and the Managing Director have declared that: 

 
(a) The financial records of the Group for the financial year have been properly maintained in accordance with s286 of the Corporations Act 2001; 
 
(b) The financial statements and notes for the financial year comply with Accounting Standards; and 
 
(c) The financial statements and notes for the financial year give a true and fair view. 

 
3. In the Directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and 

payable; 
 
This Directors’ Declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 
 
On behalf of the Directors: 
 
 
 
 

     
 
Michael Fowler   Richard Cottee 
Non-Executive Chairman  Managing Director 
 
Dated at Melbourne this 31st day of August 2011 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF NEXUS ENERGY LIMITED  

 
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Nexus Energy Limited, which comprises the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2011, the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information and the directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity 
comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the 
financial year. 
 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report  

The directors of Nexus Energy Limited are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that 
gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations 
Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. In Note 1, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standards AASB 101 
Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial statements comply with International Financial 
Reporting Standards.  
 

Auditor’s Responsibility  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply 
with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 
 

Independence
 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations 
Act 2001.
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Opinion 

In our opinion: 

(a) the financial report of Nexus Energy Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
including:  

(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2011 
and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and  

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed 
in Note 1.  

Significant Uncertainty Regarding Accounting Estimates 

Without qualification to the conclusion expressed above, we draw your attention to Note 1(x) -
significant accounting estimates and judgements on prepayments and Note 17 - production assets in 
the financial statements. The impairment analysis performed on the production asset and the 
prepayment for prepaid toll fees is based upon cash flow projections that use a range of assumptions 
and accounting estimates which are subject to change. The recoverable amount of the production 
asset and the prepayment for prepaid toll fees is sensitive to reasonable possible changes in key 
assumptions.  
 
Notwithstanding the directors’ belief that the production asset and the prepayment for prepaid toll fees 
are fully recoverable, this matter indicates the existence of a material uncertainty should key 
assumptions change which may cast doubt on whether the consolidated entity will realise the value of 
the production asset and prepayment for prepaid toll fees at the amounts disclosed in the financial 
statements. 

Report on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 7 to 12 of the directors report for the 
year ended 30 June 2011. The directors of Nexus Energy Limited are responsible for the preparation 
and presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 
2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

Opinion 

In our opinion the Remuneration Report of Nexus Energy Limited for the year ended 30 June 2011, 
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
MOORE STEPHENS 
Chartered Accountants 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Kevin W Neville 
Partner 
Melbourne, 31 August 2011  



ASX ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 

  Nexus Energy Limited and Subsidiaries  /  62 
 

 
Additional information required by the Australian Stock Exchange Limited listing rules and not disclosed elsewhere in this report is set our below. The 
information was applicable as at 17 August 2011. 
 
DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDING 
 
The number of shareholders by size of holding is set out below: 
 
Size of Shareholding  Number of Holders Number of Shares 

Less than 1,000  1,107 398,791 

1,001 to 5,000  2,319 6,842,804 

5,001 to 10,000  1,743 13,530,585 

10,001 to 100,000  4,537 149,961,147 

More than 100,000  733 1,155,964,493 

Total  10,439 1,326,697,820 
 
There were 1,950 shareholders of less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares. 
 
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS 
 
Shareholder   Number of Shares 

Credit Suisse Holdings (Australia) Limited   132,329,872 

M&G Investment Funds   190,841,391 

Total   323,171,263 
 
 
TOP 20 SHAREHOLDERS 
 

Size of Shareholding Number of Shares % of Issued Capital 
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 376,035,954 28.34 
JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 154,523,137 11.65 
Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Ltd 97,780,000 7.37 
National Nominees Limited 81,531,072 6.15 
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 66,589,578 5.02 
JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 36,200,776 2.73 
VBS Investments Pty Ltd 13,176,500 0.99 
Cogent Nominees Pty Limited 12,358,151 0.93 
Lujeta Pty Ltd 11,300,000 0.85 
P & J Watt Pty Ltd 8,499,087 0.64 
BDH Nominees Pty Ltd 7,640,663 0.58 
Mr BD Hannon and Mrs AI Hannon 6,333,334 0.48 
Sun Hung Kai Investment Services Ltd 6,000,000 0.45 
Queensland Investment Corporation 5,307,771 0.40 
Robhar Pty Ltd 5,188,584 0.39 
Hsbc Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 4,780,601 0.36 
Tess Aust Pty Ltd 4,687,848 0.35 
Mr MJ Hannon and Mrs EU Hannon 4,398,712 0.33 
Hotlake Pty Ltd 4,223,797 0.32 
Keong Lim Pty Limited 3,967,847 0.30 

Total 910,523,412 68.63 
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ISSUED CAPITAL 
 

Type  Number of Securities 
on Issue Number of Holders 

Fully paid ordinary shares  1,326,697,820 10,439 

Employee Share Options    

Exercisable at Zero 123,339 5 

 Zero 2,250,000 1 

 Zero 860,200 4 

 Zero 732,200 17 

Convertible Warrants    

Exercisable at $2.02 31,884,058 18 
 
 
SUBSTANTIAL WARRANT HOLDERS 
 
A list of substantial warrant holders (who held 20% or more of the issued warrants) are set out below: 
 
 
Type  Number Warrants % of Issued Warrants 

Citicorp Nominees Pty Ltd  8,695,652 27.27 

Total  8,695,652 27.27 
 
VOTING RIGHTS 
 
Ordinary Shares 
 
On a show of hands every member present in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each share shall have one vote. 
 
 
SCHEDULE OF TITLE 
 
Title Basin Interest % 

VIC/L29 (Longtom) Gippsland 100 

AC/L9 (Crux) Browse 85 

WA-377-P (Echuca Shoals) Browse 100 

VIC/P54 Gippsland 100 
 
OTHER INFORMATION 
 
Nexus Energy Limited is incorporated and domiciled in Australia and is a publicly listed Company limited by shares. 
 
The name of the Company Secretary is Susan Robutti. 
 
The address of the principal registered office in Australia is Level 23, 530 Collins Street, Victoria 3000.  
Telephone (03) 9600 2500. 
 
Register of securities are held at Computershare Investor Services Pty Ltd, Yarra Falls, 452 Johnston Street, Abbotsford VIC 3067 Australia.  
Telephone 1300 850 505. 
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2D  two-dimensional (seismic) 

2P  proved and probable reserves 

3D  three-dimensional (seismic) 

$ or cents  units of Australian currency 

AIFRS  Australian International Financial Reporting Standards 

appraisal well  a well drilled to evaluate the size or quality of a hydrocarbon discovery 

ASX  Australian Securities Exchange 

ATO  Australian Taxation Office 

bbl  barrel of oil or condensate (equivalent to 159 litres)  

bbl/d barrel of oil or condensate per day  

Bcf  billion cubic feet of natural gas  

boe  barrel of oil equivalent   

capex capital expenditure 

condensate  light hydrocarbon compounds that condense into liquid at surface temperatures and pressures, generally produced 

with natural gas  

contingent resources  as defined by the SPE/WPC/AAPG Petroleum Resources Management System are those quantities of petroleum 

estimated, as of a given date, to be potentially recoverable from known accumulations, but which are not yet 

considered mature enough for commercial development due to technological or business hurdles 

ELOC Equity line of credit 

exploration  the process of identifying prospective hydrocarbon regions and structures, mainly by reference to regional and specific 

geochemical, geological and geophysical surveys  

farm-in/farm-out  the commercial arrangement in which an incoming participant earns an interest in a permit by funding a proportion of 

the exploration costs  

FEED  front end engineering and design  

FID  final investment decision  

field  an area consisting of a single reservoir or multiple reservoirs all grouped on or related to the same individual geological 

structural feature or stratigraphic condition 

FLNG floating liquefied natural gas 

FPSO floating production storage and offloading vessel 

gas in place (“GIP”)/oil  

in place (“OIP”) an estimated measure of the total amount of gas (or oil) contained in a reservoir and, as such, a higher figure than 

recoverable gas (or oil) 

Group or Consolidation  Nexus Energy Limited and its subsidiaries  

GSA Gas Sales Agreement 

GST  Australian Goods and Services Tax  

HSEC health, safety, environment and community  

hydrocarbon  organic compounds of carbon and hydrogen including natural gas, liquefied petroleum gas, crude oil and condensate 

Joint Authority   decision making body responsible for the administration of the Offshore Petroleum Act 2006, comprised of the relevant 

State/Territory Minister and the Commonwealth Minister 

km  kilometre  

km²  square kilometres  

KPI key performance indicator 

lead  a potential petroleum trap which has been identified but has not been adequately defined  
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LNG  liquefied natural gas  

LOI                          Letter of Intent 

MM  million  

Nexus, Nexus Energy  

and company Nexus Energy Limited  

operator  one of the companies in a joint venture which has been appointed to carry out all operations on behalf of the other joint 

venture participant/s  

permit  a hydrocarbon tenement, lease, licence or block  

PJ petajoules  

probable  means in respect of reserves, those additional reserves which analysis of geoscience and engineering data indicate 

are more likely than not to be recoverable. In this context, when probabilistic methods are used, there should be at 

least a 50% probability that the quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed the sum of estimated proved plus 

probable reserves. 

prospect  a geological or geophysical anomaly that has been surveyed and defined, usually by seismic data, to the degree that 

its configuration is fairly well established, and on which further exploration such as drilling can be recommended 

proved  means in respect of reserves, those quantities of oil and gas which, by analysis of geoscience and engineering data, 

can be estimated with reasonable certainty to be commercially recoverable, from a given date forward, from known 

reservoirs and under defined economic conditions, operating methods and government regulations. If probabilistic 

methods are used, there should be at least a 90% probability that the quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed 

the estimate. 

reserves  quantities of economically recoverable hydrocarbons  

reservoir  a porous and permeable rock formation to store and transmit fluids such as gas, oil and water.   

rig equipment used for drilling a well 

risk  an expression of uncertainty relating to the presence of principal geological factors controlling hydrocarbon 

accumulation 

Santos Santos Offshore Pty Ltd 

scf standard cubic feet of gas 

seismic survey  a type of geophysical survey where the travel times of artificially created seismic waves are measured as they are 

reflected in a near-vertical sense back to the surface from subsurface boundaries. This data is typically used to 

determine the depths to the tops of stratigraphic units and in making subsurface structural contour maps and ultimately 

in delineating prospective structures. 

spud  to start drilling a well  

structure  a geological formation of sedimentary rocks which, if sealed could form a potential trap for storage of hydrocarbons 

sub-sea well  a well with a wellhead installed on the sea floor and controlled remotely  

Tcf  trillion cubic feet of gas  

TJ/d terrajoules per day 

tpa tonnes per annum 

US$  United States dollars 

WTI West Texas Intermediate, a type of crude oil used as a benchmark in oil pricing 

 
 




